PAGE  

[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:

	EB-2007-0606

EB-2007-0615

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:

	3
March 31, 2008
Gordon Kaiser
Paul Sommerville

Cynthia Chaplin


	Presiding Member and Vice Chair
Member

Member




EB-2007-0606
EB-2007-0615
IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15 (Sched. B);
AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union Gas Limited for an Order or Orders approving a multi-year incentive rate mechanism to determine rates for the regulated distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas, effective January 1, 2008;

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for an Order or Orders approving or fixing rates for the distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas, effective January 1, 2008;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a combined proceeding Board pursuant to section 21(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,
25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, on Monday,

March 31, 2008,
commencing at 9:33 a.m.
---------------------------------------
Volume 3
---------------------------------------



BEFORE:



GORDON KAISER

Presiding Member and Vice Chair



PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member



CYNTHIA CHAPLIN
Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

RICHARD BATTISTA
Board Staff
MICHAEL PENNY
Union Gas Ltd.

PETER THOMPSON
Industrial Gas Users Association (IGUA)
MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers
JAMES WIGHTMAN
Coalition (VECC)
JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)
Jim Gruenbauer
City of Kitchener
PETER SCULLY
City of Timmins

ALSO PRESENT:

MR. PACKER
Union Gas

MS. BURNS

MS. INNES

1--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


1Appearances:


16UNION GAS - PANEL 1 (Resumed)


R. Birmingham, Previously Sworn; J. Mintz,     T. Wilson, Sworn

16Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Penny (resumed):


28Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:


60--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


60--- Upon resuming at 11:22 a.m.


107--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:32 p.m.


107--- Upon resuming at 1:39 p.m.


107Procedural matters


108Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


158--- Recess taken at 3:02 p.m.


158--- Upon resuming at 3:25 p.m.


189--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:10 p.m.




NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

4EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  EXCERPTS OF MATERIALS FROM UNION.


50EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  SEC Spreadsheet entitled "Calculation of implied GDP IPI if Z-factor not required"


102EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  Document entitled  "Corporate income taxes and investment: Evidence from the 2001 to 2004 Rate Reductions."


122EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  CHAPTER 3 OF ECONOMIC STATEMENT FROM 2007, "BROAD-BASED TAX REDUCTIONS FOR CANADIANS."


123EXHIBIT NO. K3.5:  SPREADSHEET LABELLED "SIMPLE GDP DEFLATOR IMPACT FROM BUSINESS INCOME TAX SAVINGS".


145EXHIBIT NO. K3.6:  BEN BERNANKE AND MARK GERTLER, "INSIDE THE BLACK BOX, THE CREDIT CHANNEL OF MONETARY POLICY TRANSMISSION."




57UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  UNION TO CONFIRM WHETHER IT IS CORRECT TO CONCLUDE THAT AT A STEADY-STATE LEVEL OF GDP IPPI OTHERWISE, ASIDE FROM TAX CHANGES, THAT GDP IPPI WOULD HAVE TO DROP TO 1.114 PERCENT OVER THE NEXT FOUR YEARS IN ORDER FOR THE TAX BENEFIT TO UNION GAS TO BE FULLY OFFSET BY GDP DEFLATOR CHANGES.


126UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2: TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE MATH IN EXHIBIT K3.5 IS CORRECT


161UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  UNION TO PREPARE A CHARGE WITH ASSUMED EFFECT OF TAX CHANGE ON GDP AND TRANSLATE THAT INTO THE REDUCED REVENUE REQUIREMENT UNDER THE IRM FORMULA FOR UNION GAS ON A YEAR-BY-YEAR BASIS






Monday, March 31, 2008

--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed by Union Gas Limited on May 11th, 2007 under section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking orders from the Board approving and fixing a multi-year incentive rate mechanism to determine rates for regulated distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas effective January 1st, 2008.

On January 16th of this year, the Board issued a decision which accepted the Union settlement agreement dated January 3rd, 2008 and the addendum dated January 14th, 2008.

That addendum proposed certain procedural steps to deal with an unresolved issue; namely, the treatment of tax changes under incentive regulation.  The Board issued a procedural order on January 17th setting down a hearing of that matter for today.

May I have the appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, thank you.  My name is Michael Penny.  I appear as counsel for Union Gas, the applicant.  With me are Union staff, Mr. Packer, Ms. Burns and Ms. Innes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm here for the School Energy Coalition, and with me is Dr. George Georgopoulos, who will be giving evidence next week.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Jim Gruenbauer with the City of Kitchener, sir.  

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Gruenbauer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for the Industrial Gas Users Association.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC, and today I have James Wightman, who is a consultant to VECC. 

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Mr. Richard Battista.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.
Opening Statement by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I intend to give a brief opening, and then we will get right into the evidence.

This, Mr. Chairman, as you noted, is the third of three unsettled issues arising out of Union's incentive regulation application.  The three issues were customer attachments, commodity risk management and the treatment of tax changes during the incentive regulation period.  

The first two, customer additions and commodity risk management, have been dealt with, so this is the last of the three.  

The remaining tax change issue has two components.  The first issue is whether a base rate adjustment should be made effective December 31, 2007 for unforecast tax changes that became effective in 2007.  Union says, on that point, that these particular cost variances are no different than any other test year cost variances and that no adjustment should be made to base rates on this account.

The second and larger issue is whether and to what extent changes in tax rates are reflected in the price cap index, or whether tax changes applicable to Union should be passed through as Z-factor adjustments.  

Union says tax changes are reflected in the price cap index, and to treat tax changes as Z-factors would be to &double count their effect.

Now, the price cap index provides for an inflation factor, of course, and I have placed before you, sir, a very small bundle of documents that -- just to save looking up things in the larger binders.

At page 5 of that bundle -- 

MR. KAISER:  Just a minute, Mr. Penny.  I am not sure we have that.

MR. PENNY:  The first page is --

MR. KAISER:  I think they're just being distributed.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we will distribute those.  We hadn't marked them yet, so we hadn't presented them to the Panel.  We will call that Exhibit K3.1.  This is...

MR. PENNY:  It is just excerpts from some materials from my opening.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, excerpts of materials from Union.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  EXCERPTS OF MATERIALS FROM UNION.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, at page 5 there is an excerpt from a settlement agreement dealing with the inflation factor.  It is page 10 of the settlement agreement.  It notes that:
"The parties agree that the inflation factor to be used in Union's price cap index is the actual year-over-year change in the annualized average of four quarters using Q2 to Q2 of Statistics Canada and gross domestic product implicit price index final domestic demand, or the GDP IPI FDD, sometimes known as the -- or sometimes we will call it the GDP deflator.  

For 2008, the inflation factor calculated in this the matter is 2.04 percent, the inflation factor being adjusted annually on this basis as set forth.

So the reason for the adoption of the GDP IPI FDD was canvassed in a number of preliminary reports and documents, and I didn't provide those here, but one reference is probably as good as another.

Mr. Lowry, in his report that was filed earlier in these proceedings, said -- says:
"Macroeconomic economic inflation measures have noteworthy advantages over industry-specific measures in rate adjustment indexes.  One is that they are available from respected and impartial sources, such as the federal government.  Customers are more familiar with them, and this facilitates acceptance of rate indexing generally.  There is no need to go through the chore of annual index calculations.  Controversies over the design of an industry-specific price index are sidestepped."

So there were some sound policy reasons, and those comments really just reflect the Board Staff's earlier reports.  There were policy reasons for the recommendation of the GDP IPI, and those underpinned, I would submit, the agreement that was reached.

The price cap index that has been agreed to for Union also provides for the possibility of Z-factor adjustments.  Z-factor adjustments are adjustments for changes in costs that are both outside the price cap formula and result from events which are outside management's control.

The criteria for Z-factor adjustments that were agreed to in this case appear on the next page, page 6, which is an excerpt from page 17 of the settlement agreement, and you will see that there is five criteria that were agreed to.

The ones that -- or I guess -- well, the first three are the most pertinent.  The event must be causally related to an increase/decrease in cost.  The cost must be beyond the control of utility’s management, and, three, the one that I want to emphasize here, the cost increase/decrease must not otherwise be reflected in the price cap index.

That is, of course, what brings us before you today, because the disagreement is on whether tax changes are caught in the price cap index.

So during the settlement conference, parties were unable to agree on whether amounts, federal and Ontario tax changes and other similar changes that may occur during the term of the incentive regulation plan, qualified as Z-factors, but the specific changes that are in dispute today, at least, are conceptually three.  

First, there are federal reductions in the corporate income tax scheduled to commence in 2008 and to continue to reduce corporate taxes until 2012.

The second are changes in depreciation rates, some of which apply to Union and some of which do not.

And third is the recently announced reductions in Ontario capital tax, which were introduced as part of federal-provincial tax harmonization.

During the term of the incentive regulation plan, it is Union's position that the economic effect of these tax changes will be picked up in the national price index being used as the inflation factor in Union's price index.

Union's position on the tax changes proposed for 2008 and following will be supported in two ways:  First by evidence which you will hear today; and, secondly, through regulatory precedent, which I will deal with in argument.

Union's own witness will be Mr. Rick Birmingham, vice president of finance and regulatory affairs.  Mr. Birmingham has already appeared before you in this case, and you have his qualifications and CV.

Union will also lead the independent expert evidence of Professor Jack Mintz and Professor Tom Wilson.  Professor Mintz is the newly appointed chair of the School of Policy Studies at the University of Calgary and the former president and CEO of the C.D. Howe Institute.  He is a world-renowned fiscal and business tax policy specialist who has researched and written extensively on the impact of business taxes on the Canadian economy.

Professor Wilson is a long-time professor of economics, now emeritus, at the University of Toronto, a former director and still a senior advisor for the Policy and Economic Analysis program at the Institute For Policy Analysis at the University of Toronto, and is the former coordinator of business economics for the Rotman School of Business, also at the University of Toronto.

He, too, has conducted extensive research and writing on tax changes and their impact on the economy.  

In the context of federal tax increases or decreases, you will hear from Dr. Mintz and Dr. Wilson that federal tax changes that apply to all industrial sectors will be reflected in lower costs on all sectors of the economy.  Economic factors will require the vast majority of businesses to adjust costs to reflect these changes and these increases or decreases will be reflected in the GDP price deflator being used in Union's price cap.  Lower taxes translate into lower prices.

Professors Mintz and Wilson say that even where, for example, there is a tax change specific to an industry, like the depreciation rate on distribution pipelines, a specific adjustment should only be made if the net effect of all tax changes that are taking place in the economy at a given time affect that industry disproportionately.  In the case of federal tax changes increasing the capital cost allowance for utility pipeline equipment, for example, Professors Mintz and Wilson say that while this one change is unique to utilities, the net effect of all recent tax changes on the marginal effective tax rate is such that utilities actually receive less of a tax reduction than large corporations in general.

This is, by the way, largely due to the significant tax relief afforded to the manufacturing sector, which does not affect Union Gas.

In any event their opinion is that to make a Z-factor adjustment to Union's rates for either the general corporate and capital tax reductions or the accelerated rate of depreciation available, and to apply the GDP inflation factor would double-count or more than double-count the economic effect of the tax changes on Union.

Similarly, Professors Mintz and Wilson say if a tax change occurred only in Ontario, the national price index would only partially capture its effects since Ontario's GDP is about 40 percent of the Canadian economy.

Union, in fact, concedes that if there is a one-of-a-kind tax change that takes place only in Ontario, then its effect would not be fully captured in the national inflation factor.  However, the experts' evidence is that if other provinces make comparable changes, the national price index will reflect the average of all provincial reductions.
Again, although Ontario has announced corporate tax reductions, so have Saskatchewan, Manitoba, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia.  The effect of these broadly based changes is to reduce tax costs in all sectors of the Canadian economy, which will be reflected in the national price index.  In fact, once all federal and provincial corporate tax changes for 2006 and 2007 are considered, the average reductions in marginal rates of tax are actually greater for industry in Canada generally than for Ontario utilities, by approximately 2 percent.

Now, if this sounds like déjà vu all over again, it is for good reason, because these matters have been before the Energy Board on two prior occasions and on both occasions the Energy Board has held that changes to tax rates should not be passed through to customers via specific rate adjustments.

In the first case, the evidence of these very witnesses we are about to hear from was accepted by the OEB on this very issue, and that was a hearing before Mr. Jackson, Mr. Donimy and Mr. Sommerville during Union's trial PBR plan.  In that case it had been accepted that federal tax changes of general application would be reflected in the chosen GDP deflator, and in the original PBR decision itself, the Board said at page 96 that:
"In principle the Board believes that in the long run economy-wide changes are captured in economy-wide indices such as the GDP PI and therefore are captured in the price cap."

The issue that arose subsequently, however, was what to do with a tax change that was not economy-wide, but specifically a reduction in the Ontario corporate tax rate.  The evidence of Professors Mintz and Wilson was that while Ontario represented, as it does now, approximately 40 percent of the corporate taxes paid, other provinces were also reducing corporate taxes.

The decision of the Board in that subsequent case is at the first couple of pages of the document brief I passed out, and the Board said at page 79:
"There may be instances where a tax change is of such a nature that it may warrant treatment as a Z-factor.  Such a case may arise where a tax change is of such special and unique application to Union that it could not reliably be expected to be reflected in a Canada-wide index such as the GDP PI.  It may also be true that the parties, when assessing the current PBR plan and designing its successor will want to consider methodologies for determining the inflation factor.  The Board notes that the use of an actual GDP PI, which the Board has chosen for expediency and to avoid significant debate within a customer review process..."  
-- that is what CPR stands for, which meant the annual adjustment process --

"...means accepting that changes in other costs too may have a lag effect on rates.  Its fairness over time would appear to rely on consistently using the same approach, including consistently choosing comparable data on which to base the I-factor determination.  
The Board accepts for now that the changes in the Ontario corporate tax rates are or will be reflected in the GDP PI, and that no Z-factor adjustment should be made at this time, with respect to the rates schedules currently in effect under the PBR plan.  The income tax changes therefore are to be considered to be captured in the determination of the price cap index."

Now, Mr. Mintz testified for the School Energy Coalition in RP-2004-88 in the 2006 Electricity Handbook Case on a tax-related issue.  The specific issue was whether tax changes resulting from charitable contributions, which were not themselves recoverable as part of the revenue requirement, should be passed on to customers.  Although rejecting the proposition that they should be passed on to customers, the Board in that case agreed with Professor Mintz that in a competitive market tax reductions will tend to be passed on as lower prices.

And you simply see that in the first sentence of the excerpt at page 55, which is page 4 of the bundle, from the Board's decision in that case, in which the Board said:
"With respect to the third point, the Board   accepts the evidence of Dr. Mintz that in a competitive market, tax reductions will tend to lower prices."

Then it went on to disagree with the additional proposition that I just outlined.

So the issue of tax changes and their macroeconomic impact is not new.  And the Board has, in the past, adopted the very approach that Union advances in this case.

Tax changes are picked up in the inflation factor.  To pass them on to customers as Z-factor adjustments and to apply the inflation factor will double-count the effect of those changes.

Now, I want to emphasize at this point that the parties agreed to the GDP IPI FDD inflation factor during this incentive regulation term, and that is important, in my submission, because the criticisms of the recommendations of Professors Mintz and Wilson are, I think the evidence will show, not so much criticisms of the treatment of tax changes under incentive regulation specifically, as they are of the general nature of the GDP IPI FDD itself.

The intervenors raised, I will characterize it as three main criticisms of Union's analysis.  They're around the issue of capital intensity of Union versus the economy in general, the issue of lags in the realization of tax changes at the national price index level, and the issue of the Bank of Canada's monetary policy.

All three of these issues are not unique to changes in tax costs as such.

These issues of different capital intensities, of lags in the responsiveness of the inflation factor to changes in the economy, and any result of Bank of Canada's targeted inflation policy are equally relevant to all cost changes, not just changes in the cost of tax.

For example, the Bank of Canada could intervene under its targeted inflation program to offset the inflationary effect of any change in the economy, not just tax cost changes.  All costs have lags to varying degrees, in terms of when they show up in the national price indices, and many costs may land differently depending on the capital intensity of Union Gas, not just tax costs.

The evidence on the issue of capital intensity, the evidence of Professors Mintz and Wilson is that the additional benefit that Union derives from tax changes because of its capital intensity is offset by the fact that Union's total tax reductions, 2008 over 2006, are less than those of large corporations generally essentially, as I said, because of the large tax reductions that were afforded the manufacturing sector, which Union doesn't get.

The intervenors’ second complaint is that there are lags between when tax changes occur and when they're reflected -- 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry to interrupt.

Mr. Chairman, it is not usual to have an opening statement in a proceeding like this, and when my friend said he was going to spend a couple of minutes to give some opening remarks, I said nothing and I thought that was fine.

It has now been 20 minutes and I think it is fair to ask how long is he going to be before he gets to the evidence?

MR. KAISER:  How much longer, Mr. Penny?

MR. PENNY:  Probably about four to five minutes.  

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I am almost done.  I take issue with my friend.  It is very common to give openings in matters of this kind, but if it is not helpful to the Board then I'm to  --

MR. KAISER:  I find it helpful.  Please continue.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you, sir.

The evidence, I was about to say, is that the additional benefits that Union may derive from the fact that more capital intensive are offset by the fact that it’s getting -- not getting as much corporate tax reduction as the economy at large, largely because, as I said, of these benefits, tax benefits, that are being afforded the manufacturing sector, which Union doesn't get.

Then the second complaint is about these lags, and the evidence of Professors Mintz and Wilson is that while there are lags, this does not distinguish tax costs from any other costs, and precisely because there are lags, tax reductions that have already occurred and which, by the way, Union has already reflected in reduced costs of service in 2004 and 2007, will still be exerting downward pressure on the GDP deflator during the IR term.

So, finally, the third criticism of Union's proposed tax treatment of tax changes is that while tax reductions may put downward pressure on the inflation factor, the Bank of Canada may intervene to keep inflation within a targeted 1 to 3 percent band.  And if that happens, they say, as I understand it, the inflation-lowering effect of the tax reductions will be offset, but the Mintz/Wilson evidence is that, again, that phenomenon is no different for tax changes than for any other costs.  

The final demand deflator is an amalgam of all economic impacts in the economy.  You can't just look at one input cost, like taxes, Union wage rates, or the price of vehicles.  You have to look at the net effect of all of the pushes and pulls in the economy, and that is what the FDD inflation factor is for.  It's an index of the net price movements in the Canadian economy.  

If one price decrease is offset by another price increase, Union's net costs don't go down.  They remain the same.

If the Bank of Canada intervenes to keep inflation up for some reason, Union's costs stay up.  So even where the Bank of Canada intervenes, our evidence shows, the price index is still operating properly for Union's overall input changes.

So, in summary, it is Union's position that this has all been dealt with before.  The Board has already ruled on these issues and that there is nothing new here.  The evidence will be that the GDP IPI FDD inflation factor will reflect taxes in -- or changes in tax costs, just as it reflects changes in other costs, and that to avoid Z-factor treatment for tax changes will double-penalize Union for tax reductions and doubly reward customers.

So with that, Mr. Chairman, I will call on Union's witness panel to come forward and be sworn.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Birmingham I believe has already been sworn.
UNION GAS - PANEL 1 (Resumed)


Richard Birmingham, Previously Sworn


Dr. Jack Mintz, Sworn


Dr. Thomas Wilson, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Penny (resumed):


MR. PENNY:  Professor Mintz, I will start with you.

We will do it in alphabetical order.  You, sir, have a Ph.D. in economics from the University of Essex?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you are at present the Palmer chair of public policy at the University of Calgary?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  Prior to that, from 1989 to 2007, you were a professor of business economics at the Rotman School of Management.

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  And that was -- also involved a cross-appointment to the department of economics at the University of Toronto?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  From 1999 to 2006, you were the president and chief executive officer of the C.D. Howe Institute?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  And in 1996, I understand that you were the Clifford Clark visiting economist for the department of finance and the chair of the technical committee on business taxation?

DR. MINTZ:  1996 and 1997.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  And from '93 to '95, you were associate dean, academic, for the faculty of management, University of Toronto?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And then between 1978 and 1989, you were  -- began as an assistant professor, and then a tenured associate professor, with the department of economics at the Queen's University?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  Now, you have talked graduate and undergraduate courses in public economics?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  And, as well, industrial organization?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  And micro economics?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have also taught graduate and undergraduate courses on international tax and business practices?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you have taught economics for both -- in both economics departments and masters of business administration courses?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  Your other scholarly and professional activities include being a member of the board of management for the International Institute of Public Finance?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You are a member of the National Statistics Council for Statistics Canada?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  You are an international research fellow of Oxford University's Centre For Business Taxation?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  You are on the Board of editors of the Canadian Tax Journal?  

DR. MINTZ:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And the board of editors of the International Tax and Public Finance Journal?

DR. MINTZ:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  As I understand it, you are a currently a co-chair of the research committee for the Canadian Tax Foundation?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  Your CV contains a long list of refereed and other publications.  Is it fair -- I won't go through them all, although I will mention a few, but is it a fair characterization that you have conducted dozens of studies and written dozens of articles on the subject of business taxation and the implications of tax policy for various aspects of the Canadian economy?

DR. MINTZ:  I believe so, I have.

MR. PENNY:  You have written, for example, papers on capital mobility and tax competition?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  "Assessing Ontario's fiscal competitiveness"?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  "Income shifting, Investment, and Tax Competition:  Theory and Evidence from Provincial Taxation in Canada"?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  I was co-author, yes.

MR. PENNY:  "Taxes and Fiscal Instruments in the New Economy"?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  "National Tax Policy and Global Competition"?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  You have written some books, I understand.  With Mr. Preston, you edited "Infrastructure Productivity and Competitiveness"?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You also, with Professor Wally, edited a text on the economic impacts of tax reform?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes, that was 1987 tax reform.

MR. PENNY:  You have also -- you are also the co-editor of a text on -- as the result of the policy reform on macroeconomic policy issues?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And with Mr. Purvis, you were the editor of "The Impact of Taxation on Business Activity"?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And the report of the policy forum on the corporate income tax system?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  Other publications, non-refereed publications that you have authored include the "2007 Tax Competitiveness Report:  A Call for Comprehensive Tax Reform"?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct, although I would say it was refereed, but on my non-refereed list.

MR. PENNY:  These are invited publications.  You were invited to do a publication on the 2006 budget giving the economic context?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have written on the federal and provincial tax reforms?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have written a paper for the University -- for Cambridge University Press, "Corporate Taxation and International Competition"?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you have written on business tax reform and the federal-provincial combined marginal effect of tax rates on capital from 1997 through to 2006?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  I understand you have testified before the House of Commons finance committee on a number of occasions, with respect to pre-budget consultations?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have been qualified as an expert witness before this Board in the cases I mentioned earlier, on one occasion on behalf of School Energy Coalition and on another on behalf of Union Gas?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you were qualified as an expert to speak on the implications of tax policy for economic impacts?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have also, I understand, testified before the Federal Court as an expert on tax and economic related matters, and the Ontario Superior Court?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.  


MR. PENNY:  Then Dr. Wilson.  You, sir, I understand have a Ph.D. from Harvard University in 1961?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  And you were an assistant professor of economics at Harvard University from 1962 to 1967?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  You were an associate professor at U of T from 1967 to 1968?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And then you became a full professor of economics in 1968, and occupied that role until 2001?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  That's when you became a Professor emeritus at the University of Toronto, in 2001?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You, sir, I understand, were from '69 to '75 the director of the Institute for Policy Analysis at the University of Toronto?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  And you were the director of economics in the department of political economy from 1979 to 1982, at the University of Toronto?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You were the chairman of the department of economics at the University of Toronto from '83 to '85?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  And you were the area coordinator for business economics at the Rotman School of Management from 1989 to 2003?


DR. WILSON:  That's right.


MR. PENNY:  And you remain associated with both the Rotman School of Business and as a senior advisor to the Institute for Policy Analysis?


DR. WILSON:  Yes. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  Professor Wilson, I think you turned your microphone off.  Yours and Professor Mintz -- 


DR. WILSON:  The light is very faint.  It's on now? 


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's better.  Thank you.


DR. WILSON:  Sorry. Here I thought I was helping.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.


You, sir, have taught macroeconomics at the Rotman School of Business and the department of economics?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have taught graduate and undergraduate courses in industrial organization?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  You have taught graduate courses on fiscal policy?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  And you have taught undergraduate and graduate courses on public finance?


DR. WILSON:  That's right.  Sorry, undergraduate in public finance.  I never taught a graduate course in public finance.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  In terms of other professional experience, you were a research supervisor and consultant with the Royal Commission on Taxation back in the '60s?


DR. WILSON:  That's right.


MR. PENNY:  And you were a director of the National Bureau of Economic Research from 1964 to 1974?


DR. WILSON:  I think I was on the board there.  I wasn't a research director.  I was on there, I think -- yes, I was a director, but it is like being on a board of directors.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Among other things, you were an advisor to the Minister of Finance from 1982 to 1984?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You were a member of the Research Advisory Group, Macroeconomics, for the Royal Commission on the Economic Union and Development Prospects for Canada?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  And you are, I understand, an associate editor of Review of Economics and Statistics?


DR. WILSON:  I was.


MR. PENNY:  You were from 1986 to 1982.  And you are a member of the editorial board, or were a member of the editorial board, for Canadian Business Economics from 1992 to 2001?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You, as I understand it, sir, are the chair for National Accounts Advisory Committee of Statistics Canada?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And can you tell us what the National Accounts Advisory Committee is and what it has responsibility for.


DR. WILSON:  It's a committee of about 12 people from, mainly from outside Statistics Canada, and we advise the assistant chief statistician for the national accounts on issues related to the national accounts, including thing like new developments in the national accounts, where they want feedback from the committee.  And the committee is composed of academics and business economists, typically.


MR. PENNY:  Do the national accounts include the GDP IPI FDD price index?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.  That is part of the national income accounts.


MR. PENNY:  You, sir, I understand are a research -– currently, have been since 2000 and remain a research fellow with the C.D. Howe Institute?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You are a member, as is Dr. Mintz, of the Statistics Council of Statistics Canada?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  Your consulting, Professor Wilson, has involved consulting for the Royal Commission on Taxation?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  The Department of Industry?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  The Department of Justice?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And the Economic Council of Canada?


DR. WILSON:  A long time ago, yes.


MR. PENNY:  The Department of Finance?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And as we have seen, the Royal Commission on the Economic Union?


DR. WILSON:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  And you have also consulted to the director of investigation and research of the Competition Bureau and the Canada Revenue Agency?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you, sir, have been qualified as an expert economics witness before the Canadian Radio-Television and Telecommunications Commission; the Ontario Joint Board of Municipal and Environmental; the Competition Tribunal; this Board, the Ontario Energy Board; and the Federal Court of Canada?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  I understand you have also submitted opinions to the Superior Court of Ontario with respect to settlements reached in competition matters?  Price-fixing?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  So Mr. Chairman, based on the many years of academic teaching, research and writing and consultancy in the areas of public finance, business taxation, inflation, and economic analysis, I would ask that Professors Mintz and Wilson be accepted as experts in the economic impact of changes in Canadian fiscal and tax policy on the Canadian economy, and in the analysis and measurement of those impacts.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  And that, Mr. Chairman, the issues are reasonably well-defined in the evidence, and we have given our response to the intervenors in our reply evidence.


So with that, I will turn the matter over to my friends and make the witnesses available.  


Oh, sorry.  I left out the one technical thing I am supposed to do, which is that you, gentlemen, are the authors of prefiled evidence on the relationship of business tax policy to the inflation factor in this case; is that correct?


DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.


DR. WILSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You are also -- and Mr. Birmingham, some of the information that was made available, some of the prefiled information, and some of the information made available to Messrs. Mintz and Wilson was provided by Union Gas?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And collectively, there are answers to interrogatories, some of which were answered, I take it, by Messrs. Mintz and Wilson, some by Union.  But do you adopt all of that evidence for the purposes of this hearing?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, I left out that step.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. Mr. Shepherd?

Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


I told the other intervenors and I think I may have told Mr. Penny as well, I have somewhere around four hours.  My target is to make sure I am finished well before the end of the day, but you know when it gets long, no guarantees.  I will try to be efficient.


Let's start with you, Dr. Mintz.  Your primary area of expertise is tax and fiscal policy, right?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, it is true that many people, me included, would say you're among the foremost tax policy experts not only in Canada, but in the world.  Weren't you named in the top 50 influential tax experts in the world a couple years ago?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes, in a UK magazine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it must be right.


DR. MINTZ:  I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were, in fact, the top Canadian on that list, weren't you?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.  In fact, there were only two Canadians.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Now this case of course isn't about tax policy, it is about macroeconomic effects of tax policy, right?


DR. MINTZ:  Not entirely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we're not deciding whether our tax is good or not.


DR. MINTZ:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is about, once you have tax change, what happens.


DR. MINTZ:  Yes, but a significant part of our evidence has to do with calculating the impact of all of the tax changes on the cost of capital and the effective tax rates on capital, which is an area of considerable expertise for myself.


MR. SHEPHERD:  True enough.  In fact, I am guessing here, but the METR, the marginal effective tax rate, is that actually something that you originally proposed?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  Actually, it goes back to work that I did with Robin Boadway and Neil Bruce, originally in 1984, at that same time that Mervin King, who is now the Governor of the Bank of England, and Don Fullerton in the United States actually were doing similar work at that point.


But I should say that the Department of Finance uses my model, as well as the World Bank, in estimating these kinds of tax changes on business -- tax changes or investment and, in some cases, the cost of doing business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they use your model for calculating marginal effective tax rate; right?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, it is used in other countries, too; right?


DR. MINTZ:  In some, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But what this Board is considering today, as I understand your counsel, is whether the tax changes that we know about get reflected in the GDP deflator; right?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason that you are an expert in that is because you can't make tax policy recommendations unless you know what the impacts are going to be.  That's the primary expertise you have to have; right?


DR. MINTZ:  That is exactly right, because in order to understand policy, you have to understand the impact of the tax system on the economy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have been very vocal in proposing business tax reductions over the years; right?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes, ever since the technical committee on business taxation report in 1997.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, that report, and you were advisor to the Minister of Finance, personal advisor to the Minister of Finance, and you took that position there and at the C.D. Howe Institute; right?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so somebody told me the other day, You're cross-examining Jack Mintz?  He's the guy who got these tax reductions. 


And it is true tat you had a significant influence; isn't that right?


DR. MINTZ:  I am just a lowly professor.  I am not sure I can influence public policy much.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the love-in is over.  All right.  But when you have been proposing corporate tax reductions, which you have over the years, for more than ten years, your whole point - and as I understand it, it's the crux of your evidence, too - is that if you reduce corporate income tax in the right way -- you have to do it in the right way.  If you reduce corporate income tax, corporations will respond by increasing their capital investment, which will improve productivity and expand the economy; isn't that right?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.  I should add that not all of my recommendations are tax reductions.  There are times when I actually recommend things like base-broadening that could lead to higher levels of taxes, as in the case of the income trust debate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, I was interested to see that the technical committee report proposed that you get the tax rate down, the combined tax rate down, to 33 percent, and the economic statement last year says, By the way, our new target is 25 percent.  So they have gone well beyond you now, haven't they?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So, now, you have been an expert witness before this Board many times before.


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Several times before?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board hasn't always agreed with you.


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


You're not an expert in incentive regulation?


DR. MINTZ:  Sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  In incentive regulation.


DR. MINTZ:  I wouldn't -- I know some things about incentive regulation, but I wouldn't say that I am a true expert.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Not like Dr. Lowry, who we're going to hear -- who is not a tax policy expert, but certainly is an incentive regulation expert; right?


DR. MINTZ:  I suppose so.  I can't speak for Dr. Lowry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Now, let me turn to you, Dr. Wilson.  You have done a lot of work in tax policy over the years, I can see from your resume, but you are really more of a macroeconomist, aren't you?


DR. WILSON:  Actually, I have two hats.  I'm a macroeconomist with a big interest in fiscal policy, and of course tax is part of that, and I am also an industrial organization economist.  I know it is an unusual combination.  But I have done a fair amount of work in the tax area, many papers co-authored with my former colleague, Dr. Jack Mintz, but also macro analyses of federal budgets with my colleague, Peter Dungan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have been at this a long time.  I know you got your Ph.D. when both Jack and I were in elementary school.


DR. WILSON:  Is that right?


DR. MINTZ:  I thought I was in diapers but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your early work was much more theoretical.  You actually moved into fiscal policy later; right?


DR. WILSON:  Correct.  My early work was mainly in industrial organization.  I did a lot of work on the economics of advertising early in my career.


I revisited that about three or four years ago with my co-author, Bill Comaner.  We did a paper that we presented at the American Economic Association, but I did a lot of work there, including writing a book that was published by the Harvard University Press.  


It was after I came up to the University of Toronto that my interests in macroeconomics were rekindled.  I had actually -- my Ph.D. thesis at Harvard was really in a kind of borderline area between industrial organization and macroeconomics.  I looked at the impact of inflation in a particular sector of the US economy, the machinery sector.  This was during the time of the 1950s when inflation was becoming a policy issue.


So when I got back to the University of Toronto, I got involved, through the Institute For Policy Analysis, with some of the macro modelling work and worked with colleagues who developed those models, macro policy analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wanted to get to that.


You have done quite a lot papers with Peter Dungan, who is -- I am told he is the focus model guru.  He is the guy who sort of babysits the model?


DR. WILSON:  Yes.  He is also currently the director of the policy and economic analysis program.  A year after I became an emeritus professor, I -- he replaced me as director of that program.  He had been kind of the running the model, though, for years prior to that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, by my count, more than 50 of your papers are empirical studies based on the focus model that you did with Dr. Dungan; is that about right?


DR. WILSON:  I would have to count on my CV.  I don't know whether you are including working papers, and so on, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not --


DR. WILSON:  I have done a lot of papers with the focus model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you --


DR. WILSON:  And with its predecessor.  There was a previous model called the quarterly forecasting model, so several papers I co-authored with Gregory Jump, who was the actually the first -- the creator of the original focus model, but prior to the development of the focus model, we had something called a quarterly forecasting model, and he and I used to do regular budget analyses of the federal budget typically with that model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, can you tell us a little bit about the focus model?  What does it do?


DR. WILSON:  Well, focus is a macroeconometric model.  So the basic framework is to estimate equations that predict the main components of the national income accounts.  So it is a built within the national accounting framework.


But it does go beyond the national accounts.  There is a financial sector, as well, so their interest rates are developed.  Prices beyond just the implicit deflators for the accounts are there.  There's a federal budget side to it.  Although, it is a budget, again, in the national accounts framework, rather than in the kind of budget framework that the federal government publishes with its budget.  So it is in the framework of the Statistics Canada data on the national accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, some models of this type start with a construct which is entirely theoretical, and other models have a sort of a time series of actual data, and then model future activities.  Which is this?


DR. WILSON:  It is a combination.  The model is empirically estimated, so the equations are actually fitted to historical data.  But it was designed to have equilibrium properties when you run the model out and you have worked through all of the lags that are consistent with basic economic theory.


So theory is there.  All of the accounting constraints of the national accounts are there, so things add up properly.  That's very important in building these models.  But the behavioural equations, things that predict how consumers spend and how firms react to changes in interest rates and tax factors and the demand factors in the economy, these are all estimated empirically using econometric techniques.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, for the last at least 25 years that I can see, and I am guessing it may be longer than that, you and Professor Dungan have run the focus model to analyze the impacts each year of the federal budget; right?


DR. WILSON:  Pretty well that's the case, yes.


I can't say whether it is literally every year.  There's been odd case where the -- there wasn't much in the budget and so whether -- the timing of it.  I think we pretty well always do.


We have typically -- we have often collaborated with Queen's University in organizing a conference on the budget.  When we do that, we always have a paper based on our model, but -- doing the kind of basic quantitative analysis of the budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the John Deutsche Institute?


DR. WILSON:  John Deutsche Institute, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you didn't do a -- run a focus to assess the likely impact on GDP IPPI final domestic demand of the corporate income tax cuts in 2007 through 2012, did you?


DR. WILSON:  No, we did not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am wondering why you didn't.  The model could do that; right?


DR. WILSON:  It is very difficult to address some of these issues with a macro model.


We did do a lot of work on a related tax topic over this past eight months.  However, we were looking at the issue of tax reform in Ontario, if the Ontario retail sales tax were to be replaced by a value-added tax, similar to, but not identical to, the federal GST.

One effect of that is that -- or one of the big factors that our model picks up -- is it does reduce the cost of capital, does reduce the marginal effective tax rate on capital, provides a stimulus to investment; and over time, that leads to increased capital formation, higher labour productivity, and so on.

So that can be done.  It is a lot of work.  

In terms of isolating the pure effect of that tax change on the GDP, sort of in the long run equilibrium, is difficult to do.  You have to look at all of the other things that are happening in the economy.  We're normally modelling, when we do these runs, we normally have a Bank of Canada reaction in there, so we are almost always picking up joint effects when we do those runs.

But what came out of that work, quite clearly, was there was an improvement in labour productivity.  There was an increase in what we would call aggregate supply.  So that the kinds of effects that Dr. Mintz and I are stating in our paper, I think, is consistent with what we got in that model.  But we didn't do a straight -- you know, it's not the kind of thing where you just push a button and let's see what comes out.  The models need quite a lot of adjusting and fine-tuning.  I am not saying it couldn't be done, but it would take a lot of work to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a non-trivial task?

DR. WILSON:  It is a non-trivial task, just as the value-added stuff was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the reason why I am a little surprised is, you were doing the budget anyway, right?  And you did, in fact, the economic statement and you did last year's budget, all of which had the corporate income taxes in them as a significant component, right?  And one of the outputs of your model is GDP deflator?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have some indication of what the results are, but we didn't see any of it in your evidence.  Why?

DR. WILSON:  Well, those studies that we did of the budget are always in the context of everything else that's going on.

The budget might be including other factors such as spending increases, which can be having an offsetting effect.  We have pretty well, ever since the Bank of Canada has adopted the inflation targeting policy, we have always looked at the consequence of the bank's reaction.  We usually think that the right way to model this from a macro standpoint is from a neutral aggregate demand stance.

So what we're coming up with as a result -- and I think one of these papers is in this set of documents, one of our budget analyses, that shows how in certain cases you do get a clear pass-through.

But, you know, these studies, what we come up with at the end is the joint effects.  It is not what would happen if you only did the corporate tax cut in isolation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The model is capable of isolating individual effects, right?

DR. WILSON:  With some guidance.  These models are not mechanistic models that you can just put them out there and let people experiment.

In our experience, the model manager -- right now we have two people, Peter Dungan and our research associate, Steve Murphy -- they know how to put these changes into the models.  Because the models are complex, just plugging a change in can often lead to inadvertent effects that on the face of it, don't make sense.  Then you figure out what's going on in the model.  There may be something in the model that is there for a purpose, but it's not doing its job in this context, so you have to override it or make other changes to it.  It's not an easy thing to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Like Dr. Mintz, you are not an expert in incentive regulation, right?

DR. WILSON:  No.  I did study regulation and I have written papers on telecommunication regulation, and I taught some about regulation in my graduate course in industrial org.  That was many years ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in terms of incentive regulation, how it works, you're not an -- 

DR. WILSON:  I am not an expert in terms of the details.  I know the difference between price caps and rate-of-return regulation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, as I understand your written evidence that you filed at the beginning of January -- this is for both of you, of course -- it only really deals with one issue and that is whether the reductions in corporate income tax, the rates and the CCA changes, and the capital tax changes in Ontario, are reflected in the GDP deflator sufficient to offset a Z-factor; isn't that right?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, yes, but we included all of the provincial changes, too, in the analysis.

So there are other capital tax changes that were occurring in some of the other provinces.  When calculating the impact on the national changes and how that impacts on the GDP deflator, all of the tax changes were included at federal and provincial levels, with respect to things like capital tax reductions and corporate income tax rate reductions; or increases, in Quebec's case -- and et cetera.

DR. WILSON:  On the CCA?

DR. MINTZ:  Also capital cost allowances, et cetera.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You reached the conclusion that those impacts on GDP deflator were sufficient that there was no need for a Z-factor; is that right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  Well, we came to the view, in the first round, that the actual reduction in the marginal effective tax rate on the utility industry, which includes gas, was actually less than what it was for the whole economy, once incorporating all of the federal and provincial tax changes that occurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I asked the question, because I guess I understood your conclusion in your first paper to be the tax changes are sufficiently reflected in the GDP deflator that you don't need to have a Z-factor; is that right?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wasn't about the X-factor, in fact, it was about the I-factor; right? 

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you now saying it is also about the X-factor?

DR. MINTZ:  I think our comment was on the GDP deflator only.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  I am trying to narrow this down, because in your reply evidence you have gone into further detail on this.

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I understood your counsel to say just a few minutes ago that the only issue here is:  Is it in the I-factor?  Isn't that right?  You're not talking about anything else, just the I-factor?

DR. WILSON:  We're talking about the second, our reply evidence now?

DR. MINTZ:  That's why --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking what is your evidence today.  Is your evidence that this is captured in the I-factor, that it's captured in the X-factor, or something else?

DR. WILSON:  Well the X-factor is a given for the period of incentive regulation, as I understand it.

There's an issue there that we commented on related to the lags, whether over the historical period where the X-factor was being determined, that any impact of taxes that had a favourable or unfavourable effect on Union would be reflected in that input price adjustment that went into the X-factor.  And so that's then set.

So in the context of the tax changes occurring now, we would be asking:  Would that ceteris paribus have an impact on the GDP deflator for final demand?

Because the X-factor, as I understand it, is set for the incentive regulation period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is more specific than that.  Because you talked about the period under which the X-factor was estimated, but you are aware that the X-factor is not an empirical number in this case.  It is an agreed number.  You are aware of that, right?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

DR. WILSON:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is no theoretical basis for it.  You understand that?

DR. WILSON:  What do you mean by that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a number that is negotiated.  No expert said: I calculated this number.

DR. WILSON:  There was a PEG study on that, that the parties negotiating had access to.

And I think Union would be in a position to know what would be a reasonable X-factor that they could live with, that would be reflective of their experience on their input costs over that period.

So the fact that it was arrived at by negotiation and there was a study that went into it, I think, doesn't eliminate our argument that tax factors could well be, probably are, incorporated in it.

The X-factor, as you know, is a composite of both productivity and input price, and it's a stretch --  

DR. MINTZ:  A stretch factor, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in January you told this Board:  Well, this is picked up in the I-factor.  Indeed, that is what you convinced the Board of in 2001.  You came here and you said to the Board:  It is in the I-factor.  And the Board said:  Yes, you're right.

Now you're saying:  Well, no, maybe if is not in the I-factor.  Now maybe it is in the X-factor too.  Is that what you're saying?

DR. WILSON:  I don't see your point, frankly.

DR. MINTZ:  No.

DR. WILSON:  In the incentive regulation period we have an X-factor which was developed based on the historical analysis.

If tax factors in that period did confer an advantage to Union, that would have been picked up in the input price differential, but, going forward, when we're asking the question during the incentive regulation period, I think the right question is not:  Will this now have an effect on an X-factor, but will it be reflected in the GDP deflator, final demand deflator.  And that is what we have addressed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Board concludes, then, that it is not in the GDP deflator, or it is not fully in the GDP deflator, it is not an appropriate answer to say, Well, yes, but it might be backed-in through the X-factor.  That is not an appropriate answer, is it?

MR. PENNY:  There were a lot of ifs.  If I may interject, Mr. Chairman, and perhaps Mr. Shepherd could be clearer by what he means by "it".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you have a difficulty understanding the question?

DR. WILSON:  Why don't you restate it?

DR. MINTZ:  Maybe you should restate it now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you were going to answer it right away, so I thought, okay.

If the Board concludes that the tax reductions are not fully reflected in the I-factor, do you agree it is not a good answer to that to say, Well, yes, but they might be backed-in through the X-factor?

[Witness panel confer]


DR. MINTZ:  Well, our focus was on the I-factor in terms of the corporate tax changes being reflected in the GDP deflator.  That really is the focus, in terms of going forward.

For this round of the incentive period, the only comment that we had vis-à-vis the tax changes were based on the historical changes that occurred between 2000 and 2005 or 2006, where there was a lot of corporate tax reductions going on during that period, and our comment had to do with the input price differential of Union Gas versus the other sector and whether that was being picked up in the X-factor.

So I think the answer to your question would be that we are not trying to argue that if the -- first of all, we believe that the corporate tax changes do get reflected in the GDP deflator.  So that's really our point.

Your comment or your question that if the Board rejects that position, would we then take the supplemental position that this will get reflected in the X-factor, well, I think our view is that, no, except that who knows around the next round of the incentive changes?  But that's something we can't comment on.

DR. WILSON:  Let me just -- I think what you are getting at here is related to the question of the lags.

If we have -- in the past, in the historical period, we had this five-year tax reduction program, and if the effects of those tax reductions on the GDP deflator have not been fully realized and there is more to come in the future, then that, in a sense, needs to be taken into account when you evaluate whether the changes enacted -- announced this last October, which is a similar going-forward five-year set of changes, if you want to say, Well, maybe those won't all be realized within the five-year period in terms of their impact on the GDP deflator, then it's worth bearing in mind that there's some carry-forward from the past changes, as well.

DR. MINTZ:  But the focus is still on the I.

DR. WILSON:  The focus is on the I.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's interesting.  In 2001, you came to this Board.  You said, Just look at this, the I-factor, right, which is what you're saying today.  I accept that.

But you didn't tell the Board then, and yet you were at a time then when there had been tax increases for several years and they were being replaced by tax decreases, true?  Mid to late '90s, followed by early 2000s.


DR. MINTZ:  I can't answer that question, because I would have to go back in memory of what actually occurred in the 1990s.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were at the --

DR. MINTZ:  There were tax increases that were in the late 1980s.  For example, the increase in the manufacturers' sales tax rate, before the replacement with the GST that then had a reduction.

You did have corporate tax rate increases that maybe happened, but I would have to go back to the data.  I just wouldn't be able to remember right now.

The latter part of the 1990s there -- may have been fairly stable at that point.  It was very high, our corporate rate, but it was -- it may have actually not gone up that much during that period.  In fact, I don't think it did at all, if I recall.

MR. SHEPHERD:  1995 budget?

DR. MINTZ:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  1995 budget, the deficit-killing budget?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, there were mainly expenditure cuts there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. MINTZ:  Anyway, I am just not going to get into a debate, because I would have to go back and look at all of the historical changes to answer that question properly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in 2001, you didn't say to this Board, Oh, by the way, this thing that we're talking about, the I-factor, it might be partially offset by the fact that the X-factor is based on a time series, a past time series, that didn't have tax cuts in it, so it wouldn't be reflective of the future.   Isn't that right?  You never said that?

DR. MINTZ:  I don't think we talked about the X-factor.

DR. WILSON:  I don't think we talked about the X-factor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it would have been true, wouldn't it?

DR. MINTZ:  If there are increases. 


DR. WILSON:  If there were increases, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Even if it was flat, if you're going into a period of tax reductions, that is still a discontinuity, isn't it?

DR. MINTZ:  I'm not sure how it is relevant.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't your input price differential then be based on a time series that was not reflective of the current period?  Isn't that true?

DR. MINTZ:  Oh, in terms of lags?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  If there were tax changes during that period.  If there weren't, what does it matter?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's talk about the basic economic theory you are proposing.

As I understand it, there's three stages to the process.

First, you have reductions in income and other taxes by the federal and provincial governments, and they increase the after-tax returns of companies.

Second -- wait for it -- second, that, in turn, stimulates investment by those companies in capital assets, expansion, things like that; and third, that, in turn, adds to the supply of goods and services in the economy, thus driving down the prices of goods and services due to competitive forces.  Is that right?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, there's one aspect you are missing in the step.

Agreed, correct, that at the beginning, when you have a reduction in taxes, the after-tax return, capital goes up.  That provides incentive for businesses to increase investment.  Particularly given the way the world market works, Canada then looks better, and so people increase their investments at that point.

But that also leads to a productivity increase in lowering the unit costs of production, which allows Canadian businesses to be more competitive vis-à-vis international markets or whether imports are coming into the country, and then that allows for an exchange rate appreciation, which then can allow for a reduction in the domestic price level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're saying it is not an increase in supply that reduces prices.  It is the reduction in unit costs?

DR. MINTZ:  Supply will increase, and -- but it is -- you know, you also have to remember that the corporate tax reductions will also feed through in terms of some positive impacts on the Canadian economy.  That's of course what Tom would pick up in a focus model.

DR. WILSON:  Yes, transitional effects.  But with the -- you know, when the capital formation is complete, the labour productivity would be up.  So you will get an increase in total output, along with the downward pressure on the prices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I think of this in simpler terms, your output goes up, but your prices don't go up.  Your total dollar value of that output doesn't go up, because you are doing it more efficiently?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right?

And you're saying that -- assuming that is all true, that the Board doesn't need to order a Z-factor, because what that does is it passes those tax savings through to the prices that they pay for things, that -- what everybody pays for things in the economy; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I sent you on Friday, if I have my copy of it, a spreadsheet.  As Dr. Mintz will be aware, I love spreadsheets.

So I sent you a spreadsheet that is entitled "Calculation of Implied GDP IPPI If Z-factor Not Required".  This has been provided.  Copies have been provided.  I wonder if I can get an exhibit number for this.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We will provide that to the panel.  Exhibit K3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  SEC Spreadsheet entitled "Calculation of implied GDP IPI if Z-factor not required"


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have been provided with a live copy of that so that you know the formulae?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  The one from Friday, not today, right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  From Friday.  You have been provided with a live copy of that so you know the formulae underlying the calculations.  

So let me just briefly take the panel through this.

You have already seen it, Dr. Mintz, Dr. Wilson, but the Panel hasn't yet, so I will walk them through it.

DR. MINTZ:  That should be helpful for us too.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What this does is it calculates how much the GDP IPPI, the GDP deflator would have to change to fully offset the dollars that we already know Union is going to save from the taxes.  

So what you see at the top is, it just takes the baseline revenue requirement.  If you assume there is no tax changes and no tax impacts on GDP, GDP is just flat, no tax changes, then the IR formula produces certain revenue requirement results each year.  Do you see that?

DR. MINTZ:  Oh, you're asking us?  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

DR. MINTZ:  I thought you were asking the Panel. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no I'm not allowed to ask them questions.  There are days I would love to, but no.

DR. MINTZ:  Sorry, which line are you referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the first revenue requirement line, starts 873.2.  That is the baseline without considering any tax -- 

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm sorry to interrupt.  I think I inadvertently gave the panel the wrong spreadsheet.  You provided us with two.  I gave them the wrong one, so maybe I will redistribute that spreadsheet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's too bad.  That would have been fun to go through the whole thing and --

MR. MILLAR:  I apologize for that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's okay.  We will get to the other one in a little while.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does this spreadsheet have an exhibit number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It does now.  It is K3.2. 

MR. MILLAR:  It is K3.2.  I will keep the same exhibit number.  I just gave them the wrong spreadsheet.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just returned the first version to Mr. Battista.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't get any foreshadowing of that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I want to have just one exhibit with one number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you see that line, revenue requirement, and that is just the plain vanilla baseline revenue requirement before considering tax impacts.  Do you understand?

My question is:  Did you see anything wrong with that calculation?  Maybe that is actually for Mr. Birmingham.  We haven't forgotten you.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  No.  As I understand it, Mr. Shepherd, you are calculating the net impact on the revenue requirement on an annual basis, assuming that the GDP IPI FDD amount is the same for all of the years in the incentive regulation term, as it was in 2008.  And it excludes the price adjustment for declining average use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  I didn't need to make it more complicated than necessary.  Then the next section, under the heading "effective tax savings," shows the tax savings that we already know from the announced tax changes you're going to enjoy each year, to adjust the revenue.

So the equivalent revenue you would have each year, based on the fact that you're going to get additional money from tax savings.  And those tax savings numbers, by the way, are from Exhibit 3.1.1.  I think they're your numbers in fact, right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  They are our numbers, but as you know, we will not enjoy them because they're going to be reflected in the GDP change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So then the question is:  All right, if the revenue you should have for the period, all other things being equal, is $4.4 billion, 4.394, and the tax savings are another 80 million, what would GDP have to go down to so you end up with the right number?  It's just math, right?  So the first section says:  Okay, if the GDP is adjusted each year and we forget about the fact that the IR uses a lag, a one-year lag, then the numbers -- you will see the GDP IPPI percent here, 1.09 percent, 1.83 percent -- that's the percentage that it would need to be in order to produce the right revenue number each year, right revenue requirement number each year.  Do you understand that?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  As I understand it, Mr. Shepherd, what you have done is taken the revenue requirement line from your first section under the incentive mechanism required annual revenues, and then subtracted off the tax savings that were from Exhibit 3.1.1.  So you are working backwards, as I understand it.

That gives you a revenue requirement before the tax savings.  Then you have applied the same X-factor decrease as we have calculated, based on the fixed productivity factor of 1.82 percent.  Then that leaves you with an amount that would be the price change that is attributed to the change in the GDP, and so you backed into what that percentage would be.  Do I have that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Then when you add the tax savings, you get to the same total revenue for the five years that you would have.  Then this is basically saying what you just said before.  The GDP deflator is going to adjust.  So how much does it have to adjust to get to the right number?

Those are the correct calculations, aren't they?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I think we understand what you are trying to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So without taking into account the one-year lag, is it correct that those are the right percentages for GDP IPPI, relative to 2.04, to get to this number?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We actually haven't checked the arithmetic, but it looks approximately right, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last section puts in the effect of the IR mechanism which uses last year's GDP for this year's revenue adjustment.  Price adjustment.

Of course what that means is that the first year's impact is zero.  It has to be zero, right?  We're using last year's.  Then you have to use the previous year's GDP to get to the current year price levels.  

If you do that, you will see that GDP IPPI would have to go down 93 basis points for the next four years, in order to make Union whole.  Is that right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We had trouble following this section, Mr. Shepherd.  Again, I think as we understand it, what you are trying to do is get the same revenue requirement, for instance, in 2009.  Now you are going to get that number in 2010?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  You can't actually do that.  So what I am trying to do is get -- the math isn't possible.

What you can only do is get the right total for the five years.  So what we're trying to do is figure out what's that number in the last four years that will get you $4.394 billion.  There's no way you can match year to year because the first year's not going to match anyway.  It is always going to be wrong because of the lag.  Do you understand that?

[Witness panel confers]  

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's all four.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I guess we didn't appreciate that you're starting with the five-year total and just backing into what an annual number would be for the remaining fours years of the incentive regulation term.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am going to ask you to do, then, witnesses -- and whoever wants to do it, I am fine; if it's you, Mr. Birmingham, that's fine.  What I am going to ask you to do is undertake to advise the Board whether these calculations are right or wrong, and if they're wrong, what the correct ones are.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Shepherd chose not to file this by way of evidence, where he could have.  He chose to file it in a manner that had no notes which indicate the derivations of these numbers --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not correct.

MR. PENNY:  I'm not sure that it is fair to then just plunk it down on the table and say:  Tell me what's wrong with it.  In my respectful submission --  

MR. SHEPHERD:  First of all, my friend says that I didn't give them any explanation, but I gave them a detailed explanation of where every number came from and why.

MR. KAISER:  Do we have that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, because I was trying to get them to understand it.  I was not trying to get the Board to go through that explanation, because once they understand it, they can then say whether it is right or wrong.

The reason we didn't file it in evidence is because we don't have a person who does incentive regulation calculations.  Should I lead it as evidence?  No.

So it's math based on their evidence, and I am asking them to tell me whether their evidence produces this math.

MR. KAISER:  I wonder, Mr. Shepherd, if you could be a little more specific about your question.  I understand what you're trying to do, but rather than give them the whole page and say, Is it right, can you refer to the particular conclusion which you think you are trying to get to and ask them to agree with that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  If it is based on this document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I am happy to do that.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHEPHERD:  The conclusion we reach from these numbers is that given the structure of the incentive regulation that has been agreed in this case, that in order for Union to be neutral as to taxes - that is, the tax savings fully offset by changes to GDP IPPI - the GDP IPPI would have to average over the period, the next four years, 1.114 percent.  That's the conclusion we reach.

Is that conclusion correct?  You see we have controlled for other factors than GDP.

MR. KAISER:  Can we leave that question with the witnesses?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  Can we have a number?

MR. MILLAR:  That is an undertaking?  It is undertaking J3.1.  I think the question was clearly stated, so that can be adopted on the record as the undertaking.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  UNION TO CONFIRM WHETHER IT IS CORRECT TO CONCLUDE THAT AT A STEADY-STATE LEVEL OF GDP IPPI OTHERWISE, ASIDE FROM TAX CHANGES, THAT GDP IPPI WOULD HAVE TO DROP TO 1.114 PERCENT OVER THE NEXT FOUR YEARS IN ORDER FOR THE TAX BENEFIT TO UNION GAS TO BE FULLY OFFSET BY GDP DEFLATOR CHANGES.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Whether we agree that Mr. Shepherd's conclusion, as stated, is correct?

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  We will consider that.  Thank you.

DR. WILSON:  The calculations, you mean?

DR. MINTZ:  The calculation of the methodology or both?

MR. KAISER:  If the calculations are wrong, the conclusion might be wrong.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is really a concept, is it not?  It is not really a calculation that is at issue.  It is a proposition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, Mr. Sommerville, the crux of our argument is that Dr. Mintz and Dr. Wilson, their theory is right.

In practice, the dollars that are thrown off by that theory are not close to $80.5 million.  They are a small percentage of it.  In practice, this Board is going to have to look at:  How many dollars are we really talking about?  So, yes, the dollars, I think, matter.  It is not just the theory.

So I am just going to ask a couple of more questions on this, and then if the Board wishes to take a break, that might be a convenient time.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask sort of the issue of principle here.

If Union saves $80.5 million over five years -- and, by the way, we don't agree with that number, but we're going to get to that a little later -- if that's how much you save in taxes and the Board concludes that the dollar offset due to the GDP deflator, is only $20.5 million over the five years, let's say -- we haven't got to that yet, but let's say that that is the number the Board comes up with.

Then if the Board doesn't order a Z-factor, doesn't that mean that Union has a $60 million windfall, 80.5 minus 20.5?  Isn't it as simple as that?

DR. MINTZ:  I would like to reserve my opinion, because I am having trouble with your methodology in the first place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You will answer later in the day?

DR. MINTZ:  I would like to confer with my colleague.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Great.

MR. KAISER:  Would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, one final thing, if you don't mind.  There was some discussion back and forth.  The court reporter does her level best to write down what these undertakings were, but there was some discussion after I thought we had it.  So I wonder if perhaps Mr. Shepherd could state what the undertaking is, and we will just make sure the witness panel agrees, so we have this clearly stated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the undertaking was:  Is it correct to conclude that at a steady-state level of GDP IPPI otherwise, aside from tax changes, that GDP IPPI would have to drop to 1.114 percent over the next four years in order for the tax benefit to Union Gas to be fully offset by GDP deflator changes?

Does that sound like what I just asked before?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  Is that an exhibit, or...

MR. PENNY:  That's called an undertaking.

DR. WILSON:  I thought this was the exhibit.

DR. MINTZ:  You said there were some notes that went to explain this table.  We just had a simple e-mail, which I wouldn't call exactly notes behind the table in terms of details.

DR. MINTZ:  Is that all that you are referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  Oh, okay.  So we didn't really get --

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you want more explanation, I am happy to provide it.

DR. MINTZ:  Well, going through this was very useful.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Fifteen minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 11:22 a.m. 

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Shepherd.  

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I think the witnesses are in a position to answer that undertaking that was given just before the break, so we can deal with that right now, if that suits.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Perhaps I could start, Mr. Shepherd.  With respect to the section that is entitled "adjust GDP IPPI to make annual revenue correct without the Z-factor", and the average GDP IPPI percentage increase of 1.59 percent, I can confirm that all other things being equal, I think we understand what that calculation is.

Then the second table essentially just fixes the very first year -- because we already know what the GDP IPPI increase is going to be for 2008 -- and then solves for what the average increase would have to be for the remaining four years.  So that the four years would be 1.114 percent and the average over those five years would be 1.299 percent.

I can confirm that the arithmetic appears to be correct.  I know that Dr. Wilson has some comments about how the first table that I spoke to, that is without the Z-factor, ties to the reply evidence.  Then Dr. Mintz has some comments about his concern about lags.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

DR. WILSON:  I just want to point out that in the middle section of the table, where the GDP IPPI FDD is reduced to, what is the number here?  Oh, yes.  Okay.  The average -- this is without the lags, the middle section of the table -- bounces around from year to year, but the average over that period is 1.49 percent.  So that's just slightly over 0.5 percent reduction relative to what's assumed as the base case, the 2.04 percent.

Now, if you look at our reply evidence, Exhibit 1,  Tab 2, page 6 of 13, we have an estimate of the cumulative effect of the tax reductions for 2006-2007 and 2007-2008 of cumulative change of negative 2.8 percent.

So if that were realized over a five-year period, that would work out to be just over a half a percent per year; it would be about 0.55, roughly.

So the numbers that he has come up with in this table are quite consistent with our calculations.


And I just want to add one more comment, which is that the Board, in reaching the decision, doesn't have to say:  Oh, do we believe the GDP deflator inflation rate will be that much lower, looking ahead over the five years, than it is in the initial year?  Because other factors come into play.  It could be, for example, that the Bank of Canada would step in to move inflation closer to its 2 percent target.  That's something we will probably talk at more length later on.

So the Board doesn't have to believe that in fact the GDP deflator is going to be that low.  This is just talking about the partial impact of the tax changes in isolation, and that strikes me as not -- what he has come up with is consistent with our estimates of what the impact on the GDP deflator would be.

My colleague wants to address the lags issue.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  The reason why I had some difficulty with the methodology in the last table is that essentially what it does is just cut off a year in terms of the price impacts.  And you can actually rethink this a little bit in two ways.

One way is to think of the next period for the incentive regulatory scheme, that in the very first year the inflation rate will also be affected, and therefore there will be, effectively, a lower price inflation calculated at the beginning of the next incentive regulation, and therefore, there would be an impact on the revenue requirement in the very first year of the next one.

So why discount that, in other words?

The other aspect of it, and this does get to the lags, is that we did show that there was actually a fairly significant reduction in marginal effective tax rates between the years 2000 to 2006, which was 7.6 percent as opposed to the number of 5.7 percent in the next five years, although we have to remember that the 5.7 percent is based on anticipated tax changes over the coming five-year period.  What actually happens will depend on government policies that could vary from what's being anticipated.

But just keeping that in mind, that 7.6 percent, is that the 2.04 percent that we begin in the year 2008 could have been a higher inflation rate number, if it weren't for the past tax reductions that occurred.

So in other words, the revenue requirement that starts off at the 2.04 percent for the 2008 year has been influenced by the past tax changes that have occurred.  And is lower, under our assumption and the assumption contained in this table, that price inflation is affected by the tax reductions.

So that's why I have the difficulty in this, because really what you are thinking of is:  Over time, there's periods of incentive regulation and calculations here, and there's an assumption here that the price inflation factor will be influenced year by year.  And so when you think of the middle table, the calculation that there would be a 1.5 percent increase in the price deflator as opposed to 2.04, which is completely consistent with our calculations.  I would think that if you -- sort of thinking that as kind of a long-run approach to the incentive regulation, that one would not want to just focus on one period and cut off a year, but rather one wants to think about what happened in the past, and how that could impact on price inflation, and also in the future, on the next period of incentive regulation.

So I don't think that the last table was really appropriate to consider.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just follow up on that?  You are finished your response?  Yes.

So your first point was the next time around, the first year will be affected by this carry-over from the last time; right?

DR. MINTZ:  The price deflator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but it won't, will it, because in incentive regulation, you have a rebasing year and in the rebasing year there is no price deflator in the calculation.  It's not part of how you do it.  You do a budget.

So in fact, your argument turns on itself.  In fact, the last year you will be back to real numbers.  Isn't that true?

DR. MINTZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

DR. MINTZ:  Not entirely.  Because there is still an inflation factor being used, right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  There is no inflation factor.

DR. MINTZ:  In the first year.  There is going to be some number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In year six, there is no inflation factor.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  But in year six, Mr. Shepherd, we will be doing a forecast and rebasing on the cost-of-service, and those cost estimates will include inflationary impacts on our costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying is that you are going to assume that inflation will be lower at that time because of past tax impacts?  So your budgeting will be based on GDP?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We are going to be budgeting based on an estimate of inflation and that will include a number of things, including the potential impact of past income tax reductions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I recall your budgeting -- and I have seen a number of your filings -- I have never seen you use GDP in your budget.  You don't, do you, in fact?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It's simply saying there will be inflationary increases and inflationary impacts in our cost-of-service forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me go to the second point you made, Dr. Mintz, and that is that the 2.04 percent has the past tax reductions already built into it.  Right?  It's showing some of the effects of past tax reductions, right?

DR. MINTZ:  Could be incorporated, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The part of that I don't understand is you're not saying that because of that, GDP deflator is not a good measure of inflation; are you?

DR. MINTZ:  No.  GDP deflator is the approach that's being used, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board shouldn't be rethinking that.  It's a good measure, right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  All I'm saying is that the GDP deflator reflects whatever has gone on in the economy, including the tax rate reductions that occurred in the previous period.

What I am saying is that given your methodology, one should be thinking a little bit about the fact that you have cut off a year, but not taking into account tax changes that would influence either the next period's first year or the first year, 2008, that inflation factor, which is influenced by past tax changes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I guess intuitively it seems to me that you are making this more complicated than it needs to be.  Let me explain.  Maybe I am just missing it.

Next year, we already know what the I-factor is going to be for the next year.  It is 2.04.  We already know that.  It's been selected on the basis that it's expected that the economy's input costs are going to be lower by that much -- or higher by that much next year; right?

Are you saying there is a disconnect between those two and that is not true?

DR. MINTZ:  No.  That's absolutely correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If that's true, then Union's prices increase by the same -- subject to the input price differential, the prices change by exactly the same as their costs.  What's wrong with that?

DR. MINTZ:  No problem at all, but we have to remember that the price inflation of 2.04 reflects things that have occurred in the economy.  And all I'm saying is that you have eliminated that in the first year of your calculation, and yet you could make the same kind of assumption about how those past tax changes fed through in a lower price inflation than influenced -- that led to the 2.04 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I still don't understand, but I am going to move on.

Let's change the subject and talk about inflation measures.  It's not because we're challenging the inflation measure.  It's because we need to understand it in order to understand some effects, I think.  

There is three inflation measures that my concern is in this situation, CPI, core CPI and GDP deflator.

In the latter case, we're concerned with the FDD flavour of the deflator.  So can you give us a brief summary of the differences between those three measures?  Just brief.


DR. WILSON:  Yes.  I think I should address that.  So the three measures were the CPI, the GDP IPPI FDD, and what was the third?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Core inflation.

DR. WILSON:  Core inflation, core CPI.  Okay, let's begin with the CPI and the GDP deflator, final demand deflator.

There are two big differences between those two indexes.  The CPI measures the price inflation of consumer goods and services, so it does not reflect investment goods.  It doesn't reflect housing, except rent.  It doesn't reflect the price of new construction of housing, and it doesn't include government purchases of goods and services.

The final demand deflator in the GDP includes investment goods, construction, and government purchases of goods and services, as well as consumption.  So it is a broader base. 

The other big difference is the CPI, is what we would call a base weighted index.  Statistics Canada constructs a market basket representative of spending of consumers in the base year, and then we measure what happens to the costs of that basket of goods and services in the future.

One problem with this is the basket will rapidly get out of date.  Just think of going back 30 years.  Well, there's lots of stuff we buy today that didn't even exist then.

The GDP deflators, oh, since I guess five or six years ago, have been based on what is called a chain Fisher weighting methodology, where the weights are being updated every quarter.  So the weights are always up to date for that measure.

Now, let me now turn to the core. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before you get to core CPI, I had understood that another difference between the deflator and CPI is that CPI includes the costs of, for example, imported goods and things like that, so whatever you buy, whereas the deflator only includes production in Canada; is that right?

DR. WILSON:  Not exactly.  If we were looking at the GDP deflator itself, that's a measure of the price of value-added, of domestic value-added in Canada.

But if we look at the components of the domestic demand deflator, they can be influenced by import prices.  A lot of machinery and equipment is imported.  So, for example, if the Canadian dollar were to appreciate, the price -- as it has over the past couple of years, the cost of those capital items would tend to diminish.

Can I go --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I want to understand this.  So the FDD measure, then, includes indirectly imported goods in the cost of goods produced in Canada, but it still doesn't include directly the cost of imported goods?

DR. WILSON:  Well, if the import goods come in directly, when I buy a banana -- we haven't figured out how to do that, despite subsidies.  If I buy a banana, that's an example of a directly imported price and that is in the CPI.

It is also in the implicit deflator.  Like, if we broke down that final demand deflator, there would be a -- part of it would be for consumption.  That would be reasonably close to the CPI and its movements, except for this base weighting issue.

If we look at investment, now, construction and non-residential construction and housing, there's not a direct effect of imports there, because it is built in place in Canada.  There could be indirect imports of materials.

In the case of machinery and equipment and software, there could be direct imports that are in those components of final demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then go on to core CPI.

DR. WILSON:  Okay.  The core CPI -- and this is defined by the Bank of Canada, and the Bank of Canada -- its significance is mainly that it's what the Bank of Canada targets on a short-run basis in its inflation control policy.

The core CPI excludes the most volatile food and energy components - not all food, not all energy, but what the bank has determined are volatile components - and, also, and, most important, excludes the effects of what are called indirect taxes, and these would be taxes like the GST, some of the retail sales tax, like the Ontario retail sales tax, excise taxes on tobacco, fuel, liquor and so on.  

These indirect taxes are -- the direct effect of changes in these taxes are removed from the core inflation rate.

So when the GST 1 percent reduction went in place in January, the bank will not interpret that as a deflationary, Oh, the price index has gone down, we have to react against it, because it doesn't touch the core, at least initially.

The bank would only react when a change in indirect taxes triggers subsequent wage and price adjustments.  Those will also affect the other price indexes.  When we looked at the big difference to get to the core versus the FDD deflator, one, it's the coverage; second is the weighting, the current weighting; and the third is that the core excludes indirect taxes and food, volatile food and energy components.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I understand these three measures, you use CPI for things like COLA clauses and stuff like that because it reflects what people spend; right?

It is supposed to reflect what people spend on an average basis?

DR. WILSON:  One thing, and the reason the CPI is so popular for indexing things that have to be formally indexed, is that it is never revised.

Whatever they publish, even when it has an error in it -- and it was a year or so ago Statistics Canada was quite embarrassed by an error in the CPI.  It couldn't be reversed.

The consumption deflator, if we look at the personal consumption deflator in the national accounts, it can be -- in fact, it was adjusted.  The national accounts statisticians picked up the error faster than -- anyway, I am talking out of school here.  Strike that from the record.

[Laughter]

DR. WILSON:  But it isn't revised, and that's a big advantage.  You don't want to be in a situation where you had the wage settlement, and then six months later Statistics Canada says, Oh, by the way, the inflation rate was actually a quarter point lower.  And you can imagine the -- what's going to happen in that.  And so that's its big advantage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, CPI is not -- you would not normally think of that in terms of your capital investment equation, right, because they're not really linked?

DR. WILSON:  No, no.  It doesn't enter -- it's not explicitly there in any of the calculations my colleague does.  It will be taking into account prices of capital goods, of course.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It moves in a similar way to the GDP deflator, but not in lockstep?

DR. WILSON:  No, far from lockstep.  The trends are quite similar, if we look at it over time, but year-to-year variations are not strongly correlated.  Quite a lot of slippage between the core inflation rate, for example, on a year-by-year basis and the final domestic demand deflator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now the core CPI, which is a more focussed measure, is really relevant for monetary policy purposes, right?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't use that in macroeconomics except as a measure of monetary policy impacts, right?

DR. WILSON:  I would think so.  I mean, it's possible -- and I am not fully up on literature on inflation expectations -- but one of the things, if you were constructing a model, to try and predict, say, mechanistically what's going to happen in the future looking only at price theories, the core might be appealing for the same reason that the bank uses it, which is really to say, you want to heavily discount the volatile items.

If inflation goes up to -- if headline inflation in the United States, what is it, it's 4.2 percent now, but the Federal Reserve isn't tightening up.  The Federal Reserve, like the Bank of Canada, pays more attention to what are the underlying factors, which means these volatile things you want to smooth out in some way.

The crudest way to smooth them out is to say throw them out completely.  I know the bank did look at other approaches where you weight things in very complicated ways.  You know, you say:  Let's put a low weight on the volatile items, but don't throw them out.

You get indices that move more or less like the core rate if you do it right.  And the core rate, as they define it, is easier to explain and simpler to accept.  

But of course, I don't think anybody would accept the core rate in their wage bargain or in any contract.  Because you go to pay more at the pump or more at the grocery store, that comes out of your household budget and you can't turn around and say:  The core rate is down, so I don't need to suffer that.  Right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, finally, the GDP deflator is actually a measurement of economic activity as opposed to a measurement of inflation per se; right?

DR. WILSON:  No.  I think you mean the GDP.  Real GDP is a measure of economic activity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the real GDP is a measure of economic activity --

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and then deflator flows out of that, because the dollar value and the quantity don't move at the same rate.

DR. WILSON:  Well, they may move in the same direction, but at different rates.

We often talk about these being implicit deflators, and the reason for that is that Statistics Canada in the old days, they used to use base year weighting or current year weighting.  They took the current year and then they used that set of weights going backwards.

What they were doing is recalculating GDP using the prices that prevailed in the particular year, called the base year.  So if they were using 1990, okay, let's look at the prices in 1990 and then recalculate GDP, and we get GDP in constant 1990 prices.

Then the deflator, the reason it was called implicit was we took nominal GDP -- which is in whatever today's dollars are or yesterday's dollars -- divide it by the real GDP measure, and that was called an implicit deflator.  And that kind of terminology is carried over to the chain Fisher thing, which is now updated very, very frequently. So you still have the nominal GDP divided by real GDP which gives you -- or if you're looking at rates of growth, the rate of growth of nominal GDP, approximately subtract the rate of growth of real GDP, and you will get the rate of growth of the deflator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you started to explain how the final domestic demand measure is different from the plain vanilla GDP IPPI.  Can you tell me the difference?

DR. WILSON:  The plain vanilla GDP IPPI, just the implicit deflator for GDP as a whole, is strongly affected by export prices and import prices.

So in the last, it was 2001 or 2002 at one of the hearings, an issue had come up about revisions to those numbers.  And it turned out, when we looked at these deflators, there were some huge swings in export prices.  And that drove the GDP deflator way up, as it turned out, I think, or way down.

But anyway, it had a big impact, and of course that didn't matter for Union, really.  I mean Union, the gas it buys is flowed through.  So it isn't, leaving that aside, isn't kind of a high energy consumer.  So this was really  -- I remember stating at the time -- this was an unfortunate property of that index, and I gather that research was done for the Board, looking at different indices and deciding on this particular deflator.

I think it will be a much stabler deflator over time.  It would be less subject to that sort of volatility, than, as you put it, the plain vanilla GDP IPPI would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the FDD measure sort of backs out that heavy impact of import and export prices?

DR. WILSON:  Import prices can affect it.  But you won't have that giant affect of the swings.

Since we're heavy exporters of a lot of raw materials, and those are very volatile international prices.  So if energy prices go up, or wheat prices go up, or forest, all sorts of these commodities are quite volatile.  And that's going to drive big changes in the plain vanilla price index, which you won't get in the final demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like the FDD measure is, in some ways, its relationship to the plain vanilla deflator is similar to the relationship between core CPI and CPI.  That is, you have taken out some of the more volatile components so that you have a more stable measure.  Is that fair?

DR. WILSON:  Yes, that's fair, qualitatively.  But remember that food and energy and indirect taxes are in the final demand deflator.  So it and the core CPI are very different animals. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's get to taxes, because -- and we don't need to worry about CPI, because as you said it doesn't really affect this analysis.  

But we do have to worry about core CPI, because it affects monetary policy, and obviously the GDP deflator, because it affects the IR mechanism.  You have said that the core CPI doesn't include indirect taxes, which is basically commodity taxes, right?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is taxes on the prices of goods.

DR. WILSON:  It's an old, old distinction.  It goes way back in economics when people used to think about incidence in a very different way, not as the way the modern public finance people do.

But these taxes that were tacked on, the sales taxes, excise taxes, levied on the final product, even the old manufacturers' sales tax, although it was levied on manufacturers, the view was it got shifted forward up the chain, and therefore it should be treated as an indirect tax.

Now, if we look at the overwhelming majority of the indirect taxes today are levied on the final consumer.  Whether that is legally, as is the case of the Ontario retail tax, where those of us who collect that tax are deemed to be tax collectors rather than taxpayers.  This is to get around the constitutional rule that the provinces can't levy direct taxes.  So it's viewed that --

DR. MINTZ:  Indirect taxes.

DR. WILSON:  Indirect taxes.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  So the provinces got around that rule when they moved into the sales tax area by saying that the sellers were appointed as tax collectors of the government, essentially.  The legal obligation to pay the tax is on the consumer, on the buyer, whether consumer or otherwise.

The GST, on the other hand, the seller has to collect the tax but, you know, I think it is a joint, almost, action.

So almost all of the taxes today, I don't think you can think of any -- except maybe some of the excise taxes  -- where they're taxed on producers, and then --

DR. MINTZ:  Fuel.

DR. WILSON:  Fuel prices, and so on, which then get embodied in their product prices.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For this Board's point of view --although I appreciate the discussion of indirect versus direct, it takes me back to constitutional law in law school -- but really, the practical impact for this Board is that indirect taxes are taxes on the prices of goods.  One way or another, they're intended to be taxes on the prices of goods as opposed to taxes on your successful economic activity, like income tax, or your capital structure, like a capital tax.

DR. MINTZ:  There is an element of sales taxes that do affect business costs, and one of them is the fuel excise tax.

Even though it is meant to be a tax that -- it certainly does affect consumer prices for gasoline, you know, and consumers will pay it.  But we also have to remember that it does affect fuel costs that will be borne by businesses, and to the extent that they are, you know, trying to compete in export markets, or they have to compete with imports coming into the country, that could affect their competitive position.

Same thing with the retail sales tax: actually, about one-third of the Ontario retail sales tax is collected on business intermediate goods and capital.

So even though it raises, I think, what, 16 billion I think it is now, in retail sales taxes in Ontario, about five billion, a little bit more, is actually collected on business intermediate goods and capital purchases.  So it is not a pure consumption tax as in just applying at the final stage of production.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your forthcoming paper is going to argue that if you got that tax right by making it a value-added tax like the GST, that that would affect business capital investment; isn't that right?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct, in a positive way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Let me just point out one other thing here.

Statistics Canada keeps the national accounts like this.  They identify -- the indirect taxes are put on at the end.  They're kind of the difference between GDP at factor cost and GDP at market price; whereas all other taxes are viewed as taxes on factor incomes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's where I was going to go, because in the core CPI, the rule is back-out the indirect taxes, and I guess that's because they're essentially a tax on price.  So they're a flow-through.  With some exceptions, they're a flow-through; whereas direct taxes, income taxes and stuff like that, are not backed out.  They're considered to be inputs; right?

DR. WILSON:  They're considered to be taxes on incomes, yes, on factor incomes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is just another factor in the costs and prices in the economy, right, in the core CPI?  It just flows in the normal way, like any other cost?

DR. WILSON:  Sorry, I missed what you're -- is there a question there or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it is a question.  Whereas GST, it will be backed out -- if there's a change in GST, that will be backed out.  It won't be reflected in core CPI, but if there's a change in income tax, that will flow through in the normal way to the CPI --

DR. WILSON:  That could affect CPI, yes.  Payroll taxes, income taxes, they could -- they would flow through, and that is the whole point of this hearing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Now, in the GDP deflator, both indirect taxes and direct taxes are included in the calculation; right?

DR. WILSON:  Well, no.  The GDP deflator, the indirect taxes are an explicit component of that.

You could actually, if you wanted to, probably collect -- concoct the deflator and net out that impact.

The other taxes aren't explicitly there.  They can be indirectly there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the same way as core CPI?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're just part of the inputs.  All right.

So if you reduce a tax like GST, there's an immediate effect on CPI; right?

DR. WILSON:  It would be very quick in the case of the GST.  There are some indirect effects of the GST, because it is not a pure tax on consumption, but it is -- you go into the store January 1st and the GST has come off by a percentage point.

There could be some effects, prior to, when it's announced -- like both cuts.  This is very unusual.

In the past, whenever the federal government came to cut a sales tax, they always announced that it took effect on budget night, so you couldn't have any anticipatory events.  But in both of the sales tax cuts, the government announced well in advance  when the cut was happening.

So in the October statement -- was that the end of October --


DR. MINTZ:  Hmm-hmm.

DR. WILSON:  -- they announced the GST was going to be reduced at the end of January.  Now, what happens is the sellers of big ticket items, durable goods, know they're going to have a terrible time selling anything, leaving aside Christmas and so on, because people might wait for the January reduction in the tax.  So you actually can get anticipatory effects that they realize, I want to clear out some inventory here.  I better say we're paying 1 percent of the GST this month.

I'm sure we all noticed those sort of ads in November/December of last year.

But for things like non-durable goods and services, pretty well the impact is going to be right on January 1st, it goes through.  And you will see it in the year-over-year CPI, the -- when it affects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We in fact saw a little blip, a downward blip, in core CPI in the last quarter of last year, precisely because of that effect, didn't we?

DR. WILSON:  It would be in the CPI, not in the core CPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, because --

DR. WILSON:  You're talking about in December?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  Anything like that, an anticipatory effect where people are actually reducing their prices because of anticipated tax changes, that will affect the core CPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then once it becomes a real GST savings as opposed to the reduction in price --

DR. WILSON:  Then it won't be in the core.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not in; right?

DR. WILSON:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Bank of Canada has a target inflation rate of 2 percent core CPI; right?

DR. WILSON:  That's the central range of their target.  They have a price range of 1 to 3 percent for inflation, and they tend to focus in the short run on this core CPI.

What they do say when they look over medium-term trends -- like, if they were to observe that there was some persistent change that wasn't just the volatility, but, say, upward trends in some of these components that weren't in the core, but do affect actual inflation, they might react to that.

Certainly on account of their modus operandi, where they're having meetings and deciding whether or not to cut interest rates or raise interest rates, they will be looking at the core CPI, where it is now, where they think it's going to be in the next six to 12 months, and so on, in making their decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to understand clearly what you are saying about their target, because you said their target is one to three, and I read their 2006 agreement with the government and it looks to me like they're saying, Our target is 2 percent, with a control range around it of one to three.

DR. WILSON:  That's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I've got lost in my order here.

So GDP -- sorry, GST will react differently within the GDP deflator than income tax changes; right?

DR. WILSON:  Than which?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Than income tax changes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just as -- the same as with CPI, maybe not quite as -- same quantitatively, but, conceptually, a price change tends to flow through fast, such as a commodity tax, whereas an income tax is slower; is that right?

DR. WILSON:  On average, that would be the case, so, particularly, if we're talking about an announcement that two months -- a very short time horizon, say if they had announced some new one-off reduction in income taxes, that isn't going on January 1st to have an impact on the price index.  It will work its way through the system.

DR. MINTZ:  Although -- although, I think just to add one comment on that which we can discuss in more detail later, but because corporate rate reductions are announced over a period, they could actually work more quickly through the price index, in terms of lower costs, because of the anticipated changes in those corporate rate reductions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  We are going to get to that in excruciating detail, I am quite sure.

But I am trying to focus on the sort of layman's view of this, and that is, if you have a GST change, that has a direct effect on prices.  And so the conceptual change is tax goes down; price goes down.

In contrast, if there's an income tax change, you're not saying income tax goes down; price goes down.  You're saying income tax goes down, capital investment happens, price goes down.  Isn't that right?

DR. MINTZ:  I would differentiate between personal income tax changes and corporate income tax changes in talking about that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if we're talking about corporate income tax changes, that's correct, isn't it?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the process is conceptually different; true?

DR. MINTZ:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, in the report of technical committee on business taxation -- I may have made this point already, but I am sort of lost, so I will try to get back on track.  In the report of the technical committee on business taxation, Dr. Mintz, one of the things you argued there was it wasn't just how much you collected in tax.  It's how you collected it, what type of tax you imposed on a business, for example; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Hm-hmm.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said even if you are revenue neutral - in fact what you proposed in that report was revenue neutral - you would improve economic activity, increase economic activity and productivity, by taxing in the right way; is that right?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's because different types of tax changes have different types of impact on the economy; true?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then because your theory says that tax cuts spur investment which results in lower prices, that raises two questions.

How much of the tax cut actually carries through in the end to FDD, the deflator?  And secondly, how long does it take?  So I want to deal with those two things one at a time.

You agree that 100 percent of corporate tax cuts don't eventually find their way into the deflator; is that right?

DR. MINTZ:  Sorry, I --

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have corporate tax cuts, you will agree, I think your paper says, that you don't have 100 percent flow-through of those tax cuts into the GDP deflator.  True?

DR. MINTZ:  The difficulty is there are different components to the corporate income tax.

When I look at small business, I look at that as quite different than large public corporations.  And in the case of corporate income tax changes in public corporations, especially given some of the recent evidence, I would suggest that a lot of the impact of the corporate tax reductions is similar to a cost reduction.  Maybe more biased towards capital-intensive industries, but it is a reduction in their costs.  And that they would get translated into a reduction of the price index.

MR. SHEPHERD:  100 percent?

DR. MINTZ:  Pretty close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not 100 percent?

DR. MINTZ:  The only impact that I think may be somewhat different is with respect to the fact that there may be a -– actually, pretty well 100 percent.  Let me just say that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you about four impacts that prevent that from happening.

Basic Economics 101 says if there is perfect competition, there are no barriers, right -- so this is a theoretical world -- companies will still only increase their capital investment to get their profits up to a level that is at least marginally higher than current.  They won't make a decision to keep their profits the same, will they?  The whole point of the theory is that you try to maximize your profits, so you will invest if it will increase your profits.  True?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  I think that would be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then there must be some increase even if it's a very tiny one, even in a perfect competition situation, right?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, you have to distinguish between average and marginal profits.

When we're talking about the fact that -- let's say you undertake a cut in corporate taxes.  And that will allow you to have a higher rate-of-return on investment, temporarily.  Then what a firm does is expand investment until the return on its capital, at least on its new investment or marginal investment, is equal to the cost of capital.

So in the end, in the equilibrium, the profit rate on the marginal investment goes back to the cost of capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But if I am Joe Widgets Limited and I'm making $100,000 a year in profits, and I get a tax cut, I'm not going to invest that to get $100,000 a year in profits, am I?  I have to get more, or else I will keep the money.  True?

DR. MINTZ:  Sorry, I don't quite understand your example.  So Joe Widget gets what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am making 100,000 a year.  I get a tax cut.  I have some extra money.  I have to decide, am I going to invest that in building my business?  I am not going to invest it in building my business if I am still going to make $100,000 a year, am I?

DR. MINTZ:  What you're saying is you won't spend the amount of money on the tax cut to be equal to the amount of investment.  That's your point?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I won't reduce my prices equal to the tax cuts.  Why would I do that?  Why don't I just keep the money?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, because this goes back to the point of view of marginal.  And what you're doing is you're actually cutting your return on the marginal investment, which is really what will matter in terms of competitive pricing in the market.  Because firms will set prices equal to their marginal cost of production or their incremental cost of production.

DR. WILSON:  Can I interject?  At the end of the day you will have higher volumes.  Your prices won't go up.  They may go up initially, but at the end of the day, you will have expanded your business, so you will get the same rate-of-return on a larger capital.

The other thing is that even if you were -- if you're in a competitive marketplace -- if you were deciding you were just going to raise your prices or pocket the money, your competitors may not.  And even if they don't, entrants may come in and say:  Oh, I can now make money in this.  I am going to come in and expand output.

So if it is a perfectly competitive marketplace, there is no question once all of the adjustments and the lags have been worked out, you will see the full reduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the Canadian economy is not characterized by perfect competition, is it?

DR. MINTZ:  There may be some elements of imperfect competition, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not every company has to reduce its prices when it expands its production?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, prices will go down, but they may not go down by the similar amount, or maybe not.  Actually, there's a whole body of literature on cost changes and how it translates through onto price changes when you have imperfect competition.

And the theoretical answer to that literature is quite ambiguous.  In fact, because everything depends on, first of all, the cost characteristics of the company, it depends on the nature of the demand for the products.  It depends on strategies amongst companies, and it also depends on the nature of the cost increase.  Some cost increases go up simultaneously for everybody, and other cost increases may just go up for one particular type of competitor.

When you have a simultaneous change in the costs that everybody perceives at one time, they're more likely to react in a very different way, in terms of how they deal with that, compared to others.

The upshot of this literature on imperfect competition and cost increases is that you can either get what's called partial shifting forward of cost increases, so let's say your cost increases go up 10 percent, but consumer prices maybe only go up 5 percent; or you can actually get more than 100 percent forward shifting, where prices will go up actually by more than the actual increase in the cost increase.

It's a theoretical ambiguity in the literature, and so in the end the only thing you can say is to say:  Let's look at the empirics, and try to see how much forward shifting of cost changes do occur in the Canadian economy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it symmetrical?  You're talking about price increases.  Is the same true in price decreases?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes, generally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I would have thought, you know, just with my experience with people in the business community, that the reluctance to ask for more money from your customers is less than the reluctance to give them back money.

DR. MINTZ:  It's the nature of -- even in an imperfectly competitive market where you have two or three companies -- if everybody's facing, let's say, a general cost reduction as in the case of a tax reduction, you know your competitor also faced the same reduction, and that you don't want to lose market share vis-à-vis that competitor.  So you may actually want to reduce prices, if the other one -- as you perceive the other one to do it -- or you may say:  Gee, even if he decides not to reduce prices, I can capture a much bigger market share if I do lower prices.

And of course, they all think that.  So what happens is you end up getting a similar reaction downwards as you would do upwards.

DR. WILSON:  We have an illustration of this.  If we go back to when the GST came in, there was great concern at the time that the old manufacturers' sales tax, which was an indirect tax, that all businesses would just put that in their pocket and consumers would see the full impact of the 7 percent GST on prices.

And Finance Canada did a lot of work on what would be happening, and there were some monitoring going on.  But at the end of the day -- I mean their calculation was, yes, the switch from the MST to the GST was going to have an impact on prices, but not 7 percent.  It was going to be just over 1 percent.

At the end of the day, that appears to be what happened.  So that by and large, these reductions at the manufacturers' sales tax did get passed through.  We did see products like automobiles, which bore very heavy MST burden, coming down to the consumers after they switched over and went to the GST from the MST.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it wasn't 100 percent, right?

DR. WILSON:  No.  It was 100 percent.

DR. MINTZ:  It was 100 percent.

DR. WILSON:  There was an increase in tax on consumption by going to the GST.  Some of the MST was paid by investors and exporters.  There was a burden on exports and a burden on capital goods, which almost got eliminated.  There's still a little bit in the GST, but pretty well it was largely eliminated, but there was a net increase on consumption, so it was reasonable to expect the CPI was going to go up, which it did.  But it didn't go up by the  7 percent, that's my point.  It went up by the 1.1 percent, which was the calculation based on 100 percent pass-through.  It doesn't mean that every industry passed through 100 percent, because some, as Jack said, might have been more than 100 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The --

DR. WILSON:  On average, it was a full pass-through.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you have a sector that doesn't have perfect competition, you have a dominant player or you have an oligopoly or even a monopoly, the rules are different; right?  How companies react is different than in the competitive environment.


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.  That's what a lot of this literature modelled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, monopolists still reduced the price, but they reduced the price to -- on their marginal costs, but they still keep some extra economic rents; isn't that right?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, actually, it is more complicated than that.

If you take the very standard kind of, like, Economics 101 characterization, where you have the monopolist who faces what's called a linear demand curve, in the sense that, you know, it's just a straight line of the relationship between quality dependent and prices, and you assume that unit costs of production are flat - in other words, no matter what production level of output there is, it's the same unit cost of production - what you can show, in that model, is that if you put an excise tax, let's say, on costs, then that will cause prices to go up by a half of the excise tax rate.

So that would be sort of -- and you would -- you know, you would then -- and if you had an excise tax reduction, you would get the same -- you know, the same result, effectively.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have there been any studies on that?

DR. MINTZ:  What I'm just saying is that is a very standard model, but what the literature has shown is that demand relationships of quantity to price are much more complicated, and, as well, as the cost conditions facing producers, and also the strategies of firms, whether they try to maintain market shares or whether they compete on price competition or whether they compete on quantity competition.  All sorts of different strategies have been modelled.

And what people have found, actually, and this is the critical point of this literature, is that anything can happen.  You can get more than 100 percent shifting of the cost change, or you can get less than 100 percent.

And the impact on profitability, of course, you know, becomes more complicated as a result.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's no theoretical basis for saying, This or this or this is going to happen.  You actually have to look empirically at what happens in the read world?

DR. MINTZ:  And I totally agree with that point, and that's why I think, you know, of the studies that have been done -- and to be frank, I was a person who believed that, you know, when you eliminate the manufacturers' sales tax, as we did in Canada, that it wouldn't be a one-for-one impact on the consumer price.  That was my expectation back in the 1980s.  I was wrong.

I mean, the Department of Finance did a lot of work and what they found was that there was a one-to-one relationship between the manufacturers' sales tax changes and the consumer price, or pretty close to it, and that's despite the possibility there could be imperfect competition in the markets and the fact that some of that manufacturers' sales tax impacted on exports, on the export competitiveness of firms, as well as on capital purchases.

So, you know, it just sort of -- does actually sort of say, well, you know, we know theoretically we get these ambiguous results, so let's ask what the empirical results tell us.  And there's a very good example of what people have found.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Another reason -- and another factor that plays into how the tax cut translates into prices is that, in some Canadian sectors, Canadian companies are price-takers on world markets; right?

So how does that flow through?  How does that impact this equation?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, you have to remember there's also -- you know, we also have a flexible exchange rate.  So it is a little bit more complicated to think about that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Like all of this stuff.

DR. MINTZ:  But when I think about what are called original-based taxes -- these are taxes on production.  They apply to both exports and domestic demand.  In fact, I would put the corporate income tax as an example of an origin-based tax related to the capital intensity of the firm.

And when you -- there's a number of papers that have been written in this area, as well.

But when you look at an origin-based tax, let's say you impose that tax and you hurt the export competitiveness of the industry or of the industries.  I'm thinking of, by the way, a broad-based origin-based tax that applies to everybody, not just one sector.  That could -- that would end up undermining exports, which would cause the trade balance to shrink.

Of course, that will cause a depreciation in the Canadian currency, with the result of raising consumer prices in the end, as a result of that exchange rate adjustment.

Similarly, if you had the origin-based tax, it would result in an appreciation of the Canadian currency, with a reduction in consumer prices as a result, even though competitive on the world market where world prices are fixed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if there's -- if there are prices in a sector in Canada that don't change as a result of domestic forces, they will change, in effect, in domestic equivalents because of exchange rate changes?

DR. MINTZ:  There could be an influence on the exchange, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then there's another category of factors that make it difficult for this to flow through, which I call under the heading "price stickiness", which -- I understand is price stickiness is more technical for economists, but accept my layman's view of it, that it's things that prevent companies from actually doing what's economically rational, like they don't want to change their menu because they just got it printed, or they have a five-year contract for something and so they're not going to change prices until the end of the contract.

That's an effect that happens in the economy, generally; right?

DR. MINTZ:  That could -- well, how general it is is another -- I won't comment.  Maybe my colleague --

DR. WILSON:  I wouldn't describe it as being irrational either.  They're often changing the contract or reopening it.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes, there are lags.  Certainly that would be the case, as in contract lags for wage settlements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's also I am imperfect information.  Corporate managers make decisions not necessarily based on perfect information about what is going to happen in the future.  Sometimes they just go with that; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, they certainly may make a decision where they say, Well, you know, the change isn't large enough for me to want to make an adjustment.

In fact, there's been a concept of what's called trigger prices where, you know, sometimes a change is large enough where you say, I really have to react.  Otherwise, there is a certain cost to making changes in -- for very small changes that you may not want to, let's say, start firing workers just because you had a small change in price and a small change in profitability, at least in the very short run.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't just asking about those sort of menu-type or invoice-type prices, but, in a broader sense, the inertia of prices.

So, for example, a corporate manager today looks and says, I'm going to save a bunch in tax this year.  But he's also reading the newspaper that says the US economy is going down the tubes real fast.

So he may be thinking, I should be investing in expansion of productivity, but, in fact, maybe I am just going to hold off for a while.  I'm not going to do that just yet and see what happens.  Isn't that right?

DR. MINTZ:  Maybe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking; as an economist, is that an effect that in fact you see?

DR. WILSON:  You look at what drives investment.  Expected demand and ability to sell the product is a big factor, in addition to the relative cost of capital.

So you could have a situation with capital costs coming down - that's an encouragement to investment - but if you see your market sinking, that may deter your investment at that time, and you then may make a bigger investment when the cycle turns.

So if the American -- in your case, for someone who is, say, exporting into the American market and sees the demand shrinking, they may decide to put off investment; whereas when the American economy turns around, given that they've got a lower cost of capital, they would make more investment at that time than they otherwise would have.

So it's these two things -- I guess there may be some others, but those are kind of the two big drivers of investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You also have things like -- I mean, if I'm a retailer and I sell through a catalogue, I am not going to reprint my catalogue because I got a tax break.  I am going to wait until my next round of reprinting, and then change my prices; right?

DR. WILSON:  It all depends.  Jack gave the illustration of a trigger.  If we're talking here about maybe a half a percent, you're not.

On the other hand, if it's a big change, if you see -- like in the case recently of the appreciation of the Canadian dollar, that some people got to say, Well, that is so big, I have to announce and advertise that you get 10 percent off my catalogue price.  And then you put -- in the catalogues you're still mailing out, you put a big sticker on it saying:  From now on you get 10 percent off, or whatever is required.

So, yes, small changes you may not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We saw, for example, the change in the exchange rate last year affected things like the cost of books.  But we had people like Chapters who had market power, say:  We don't need to change our price of books, and in any case it is hard, because the price is already printed right on it, and because we bought these books three months ago.  Right?

DR. WILSON:  It took a while as the inventories got worked off and so on.  These things happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

Now, you say --

DR. MINTZ:  By the way, Chapters did lose some business to Amazon US.  People can get on to websites.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, although they don't close any stores, did they?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, it wasn't severe enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said in your reply evidence that  70 percent of corporate income tax changes make their way to reductions in the GDP deflator, right?  That's what you said in your evidence?

DR. WILSON:  Oh, in the table?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes, that is kind of an allowance for the fact that some GDP is produced by non-corporate entities.  The biggest would be government-owned production of GDP and public administration and defence, owner-occupied housing and unincorporated enterprises.

So the scaling by 0.7 is just kind of a rough way to allow for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then when you said 100 percent of the tax savings get through to the GDP, that's not correct?  It's actually 70 percent, right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes, and we modelled that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You got to it one way by a fairly simple route of saying the corporate influence on GDP deflator is 70 percent.  Therefore we'll assume the 70 percent goes through.

So 100 percent really works out to be 70 percent, right?

DR. WILSON:  It would be 100 persons of corporate GDP.

DR. MINTZ:  100 percent of the corporate side went through, agreed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the Department of Finance actually did an empirical study on that, didn't they?  On how much flows through to capital investment.  Didn't they?  I am going to introduce that.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I can find it.

DR. MINTZ:  Is that the one that recently came out?  Tax expenditure accounts?

DR. WILSON:  Is that the appendix to the tax expenditure accounts?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Part two.  Research report.  That's this one here, "Corporate income taxes and investment: Evidence from the 2001 to 2004 Rate Reductions."  You're actually familiar with this paper, aren't you?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K3.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  Document entitled  "Corporate income taxes and investment: Evidence from the 2001 to 2004 Rate Reductions."


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do the Panel have copies of this?

MR. MILLAR:  We'll bring them up right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have about ten minutes on this.  Would you like me to do that and then break or --

MR. KAISER:  We need to break right at 12:30.  Ten minutes is fine.  Go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So this exhibit --

DR. MINTZ:  We included it here.  

MR. PENNY:  I think this is already in evidence, I believe.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes, we included it as an answer to an interrogatory.

DR. WILSON:  3.3.1?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't see it there.  I went and got it myself.  But anyway, now we have it.

By the way, did you have any involvement in this?

MR. PENNY:  Time out here for a second.  Can we get copies?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought you already had copies.

DR. WILSON:  We have them, but we were having difficulty locating them.


Mr. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So do you have that now?  You have said that it's complicated, Dr. Mintz.  And I guess the Department of Finance agreed with you and said:  Well, we better figure out empirically what actually happens when we reduce corporate income tax.

So on the first page of this, this Exhibit K3.3 -- sorry, by the way, did you have any involvement in this, either as authors, as supervisors, reviewers, advisors or anything else?

DR. MINTZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are familiar with the report?

DR. MINTZ:  I am familiar with it, but I was not involved with the development of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was published in 2007, right?  It was published in 2007?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  What it does is it looks at tax reductions, reductions in corporate income tax in the period 2001 to 2004, and says what happened to capital investment in response to that; right?

DR. MINTZ:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's essentially exactly the question this Board is trying to answer.  True?

DR. MINTZ:  Exactly the question -- sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That this Board is trying to grapple with right now.

DR. MINTZ:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On page 7 of this, you will see that it says -- there's a little chart there, this is the second-last page.  It says:
"Change in investment from a 10 percent reduction in the tax component of the user costs of capital..."
which I will get to in a second.  If you have a 10 percent reduction, you have a 7 percent increase in capital investment.  Isn't that what the conclusion is?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In one of the methodologies?

DR. MINTZ:  I have to admit I use the same number, typically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you didn't get your 70 percent from here.  You got it from a different way?

DR. MINTZ:  No, no.  Totally different exercise.  

DR. WILSON:  Totally different issue.


DR. MINTZ:  This is totally different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This is an empirical conclusion of the same thing, though, isn't it?  You conclude that --

DR. MINTZ:  This 70 percent has nothing to do with the other 70 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just coincidence?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. MINTZ:  There are various studies that have been done on the impact on changes in the cost of capital and the effective tax rate on capital, with respect to capital stock, which they also did.

And they did give the range of 3 percent to 11 percent.  I tend to use 7 percent based on work that has been done by economist Robert Chirinko.  He gets that number.

He tends to be what I would call more conservative in his estimates, and when I do my kind of analysis and I say if you change the effective tax rate on capital, what impact that will have on the capital stock for the economy, I like to take a more conservative estimate.  So I tend to take Chirinko's, which turns out to be 7 percent, which this paper actually commends, which I said:  Gee, that's nice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the federal government reduced corporate taxes at the beginning of this decade for four years in a row, announced them in advance and then did it for four years in a row.  So very similar to the current situation, right?  Announced them in advance, and they were sequential over several years.

They're similar levels, too, right, in the sense of the amount of the reductions is pretty similar to the current ones; true?

DR. MINTZ:  Actually they were a little deeper during the 2002 to 2004 period, from what I have seen.  Or 2006.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the purpose of those reductions was specifically to spur capital investment.  In fact, you recommended it, right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there was considerable controversy about whether that result actually happened.  There was a debate amongst economists as to whether, if you reduce taxes, the result really is that you spur capital investment; isn't that right?

DR. MINTZ:  There may be some that believe that tax changes don't impact on investment, but would you say that's the consensus view amongst economists?  I doubt it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They say here, in the second paragraph:
"Although there's a substantial body of empirical studies supporting this link, some scepticism has been expressed about the effectiveness of corporate income tax rate reductions in stimulating business investment."

So there was some doubt, right?

DR. MINTZ:  I agree.  But just to give you an example, Jim Poterba of MIT put out a really interesting survey about what major public finance economists would say about various demand or responsiveness of things like investment, and labour supply, and other variables to tax changes.  Which was quite interesting, because you can actually look up to see what he got as a survey.

That's why I'm saying I think there is a certain consensus view that there is certainly some impact that taxes will have on investment; not a zero impact.  Even though there may be some people who will say zero, but I am not sure they would get the same credibility in the literature.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, there is a debate amongst economists in this area -- or tax policy specialists, I suppose, fiscal policy specialists -- is primarily about the level and timing of the impact, rather than whether there is one.  Right?  Is that fair?

DR. MINTZ:  Certainly there are lags that are involved and you do get some various estimates done of lags.  Some quicker than others.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to try to finish this before the break, but I think I am going to take longer than I expected.  So perhaps, Mr. Chairman, if this is a convenient time?

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Come back in an hour.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:32 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 1:39 p.m. 

Procedural matters


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, just before Mr. Shepherd resumes, I just wanted to advise the Panel in advance I have to leave a little early, because my expert is coming from out of town and I want to meet with him.  My departure is not because I don't find Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination the equivalent of a tax-based bodice ripper.



[Laughter]


MR. WARREN:  It's just I have to leave.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully, I didn't put on the record your presence.  Should I do that?


MR. SCULLY:  If you would, please, Mr. Chairman.  I apologize for being late.


MR. KAISER:  It's quite all right.

Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  We were talking before lunch about this research report at the Department of Finance, and people in the Department of Finance, as I understand it, did this because they wanted to find out empirically what the impact of their tax cuts was on capital investment in the economy; right?


DR. MINTZ:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they had a unique situation here, because normally when economists do empirical analysis, they don't have a control group.  Everybody in the economy is affected and they have to make some assumptions.


In this case, they were able to identify sectors that were not heavily affected by the tax cuts and sectors who were heavily affected, and so they treated the first one as a control group and the second one as the study group; right?


DR. MINTZ:  I believe that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they start by saying -- and I am looking at page 2 now, and if you look at the bottom section that is headed "Did the corporate income tax rate reductions affect business investment?", they start by observing that capital investment actually went down at the beginning, not up.  


You would expect it to go up with tax reductions, but, in fact, it went down, even as though those corporate income tax reductions were being implemented.


Do you see that?


DR. MINTZ:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then it eventually picked up, but, as the authors say, and I am reading at the end of that paragraph, near the bottom:

"The pickup in investment in 2005 and 2006 could have been a delayed reaction to the tax reductions, but could equally have been the result of other factors."


And so the point of the study was to say, Can we figure out a way to disaggregate the impacts and identify what part of capital investment responses were the result of the tax reductions and, when; is that right?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct, because every time you do a study like this, there are many factors that affect investment, such as aggregate demand in the economy.  In fact, if you read their comments about the period 2000 to 2002 where there was a decline in corporate investment, it was also at a point where we didn't quite go into recession, I think, at that point, but we -- 2001 was very weak economic growth.  Like, we were close to zero, in terms of economic growth in that year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is when the stock market went wacky?


DR. MINTZ:  Exactly.  It was the post 2000 high-tech period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  On the next page, they talk about the theory of this.  And we have talked about some of that this morning, but I guess they introduce the concept of the user costs of capital, which is something you're very familiar with; right?  In fact, you mentioned it earlier.


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then on the next page they talk about the relationship between the user costs of capital and the marginal effective tax rate, your own measurement.


As I understand what they're saying - tell me whether this is right - if the marginal effective tax rate goes down, the UCC goes down in lockstep; is that right?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  Well, it's a little more complicated than that, but -- I am not sure what you are implying by "lockstep", but it depends on how they express the components.


But the way I read what they did is they have the cost of depreciation, the cost of financing, excluding tax factors that might impact on that, and then the effective tax rate that I would -- and this is the part I am not sure exactly what they measured here, but it could be added to the other two components if it's expressed as a percentage of the cost of assets being held.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have convinced me it is complicated, but I guess I was actually going for something simpler, which is:  The fact that they were using the user cost of capital as their measuring stick, as opposed to the marginal effective tax rate, is really not relevant to this context, is it?  They were trying to measure the same thing.  They were just doing it a different way?


DR. MINTZ:  No, that's -- there is this concept, due to Jorgenson (ph), originally, of the tax-adjusted user cost of capital where you take into account that when a firm undertakes, let's say, a dollar of investment, it will get a present value of tax depreciation allowances and investment tax credits that lowers the purchasing cost of that investment.


There is a deduction for interest expense.  It lowers the cost of financing, and there is also a tax on the income generated by the investment that adds to or increases the user cost of capital.


The effective tax rate is actually calculated by taking that tax-adjusted user cost of capital and subtracting off the cost of depreciation to get what's called the gross return on capital net of depreciation.


Then you zero out all of the taxes and you get something net of taxes, and then you can calculate the effective tax rate based on that, which is -- some of the theory that I -- that goes under that was in -- we put in an answer to an interrogatory that kind of lays out some of the equations and everything else that you do to calculate that.


The main point is that the effective tax rate is sort of based on user costs net of depreciation and risk, as opposed to gross of risk and depreciation.  There's a slight difference there.


But for an investment study, you would tend to use the tax-adjusted user cost of capital, because that's -- that gives you a sense of how taxes and interest rates and other factors, risk, things like that, will influence the investment decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we go back to your original thesis, reduction in taxes drives capital investment, drives prices down, we could actually say reduction in taxes reduces user cost of capital, drives capital investment, drives prices down; right?


DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, they actually didn't do one review.  They did two reviews in this study.


On page 5, they say they selected 43 sectors within the economy and selected a study period from 1998 to 2004, and they say the reason for that is that they wanted to have a pre-tax-cut baseline to start with, so they could measure the impact of the tax cuts; right?  Is that right?


DR. MINTZ:  I believe that is correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have I described what they have done?  So let me stop there.  You've done lots of empirical studies, and so have you, Dr. Wilson.  I am surprised that they only added two years of historical baseline data.  Isn't that a very short time line if you are trying to get at the Delta of some new effect?


DR. MINTZ:  I have to read this.


DR. WILSON:  Do you have footnote 6 that they put on that period?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't.


DR. WILSON:  There may be an explanation why they selected it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Anyway, you don't know the answer as to why they did it or whether it makes sense?


DR. MINTZ:  I could figure it out if I read this carefully, word for word and saw all of the footnotes and all of the appendices and all of that, but I don't have any of that and I haven't seen it all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, the next step -- whatever they did with -- whatever their reason for that, then they decomposed the use cost of capital and the tax and non-tax components, which I take it means that they separated out the marginal effective tax rate; right?


DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  It sounds like they did that.  So my -- the way I would read this is that they took the cost of depreciation.  They had a net-of-tax real cost of finance, which takes into account inflation, so you subtract that off the nominal cost of debt and equity finance, the weighted average.  And then they had a separate item, which they call the effective tax rate on capital, which would be kind of based on the kind of calculations that, for example, I would do in terms of the marginal effective tax rate on capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They made an assumption, and you see it here, I am just trying to see where I can find it.

Right in the middle of the page, in that big paragraph in the middle they say:
"In this study it is assumed that firms viewed the 1 percentage point rate reduction announced in Budget 2000 as credible, but remained skeptical about the remaining six percentage point reduction until the schedule was set out."

So they have assumed a lead effect; am I understanding that correctly?

DR. MINTZ:  That may be correct.  There's another aspect, and I am not sure if the Department of Finance – again, not seeing the equations, I can't comment on their methodology.  But in a number of investment studies where you have announced changes to corporate income tax rates, you can recalculate the user cost of capital, to take into account the fact that when someone's taking an investment decision, they might be able to claim some depreciation allowances when the corporate tax rate is high.  So the tax savings are larger, but the actual income that is being generated is taxed at a lower rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A mismatch in the life cycle cost?


DR. MINTZ:  Because you know the corporate income tax rate is declining.  What you can show is the effective tax rate will be lower in terms of the way you would calculate that.  In fact, the Department of Finance, over the years have scheduled corporate rate reductions, precisely with the idea of giving an extra kick to investment and to get a faster response to investment in that way.

So when I read this, I am not sure if that's what they're talking about here or whether they're just simply talking about the expectation about corporate rate reductions.  It sounds like to me that they're just saying: Well, for the year 2000, we assume people don't believe that the tax change has actually occurred until it was actually set out in legislation in October, the October 2000 dead date.

So the first year, 2000, they said they just had a 1 percent reduction at that point.  And people didn't anticipate these lower corporate income tax rates in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, they did go on to say:
"As a result of this assumption that there's some lead effect, the biggest change to the tax component occurs in late 2000."
And note these are tax changes that didn't occur until 2001.  But they're saying the biggest change in the effective tax costs, marginal effective tax rate, was in 2000.

DR. MINTZ:  That might be because they did what I suggested they might be doing, in terms of this taking into account the fact that there's this timing changes in corporate tax rates, that could actually lead to a lower effective tax rate and a lower user cost of capital as a result.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. MINTZ:  Which by the way, I think is appropriate to do, if they did do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the way they did that, it sounds like, is that they basically present valued the tax differential and treated it as happening at the beginning?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, I think it would be under the anticipation that firms would have seen this shock to the user cost of capital, and would take into account the fact that you do get these timing changes, as well as taking into account that the lower corporate tax rates you can have, let's say, a smaller tax savings associated with depreciation on capital, but then on the other hand you get this lower corporate income tax rate that is going to apply to their income over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you take a look at the next page, top of the next page, you will see that over the study period, they have concluded that a 10 percent reduction in the user cost of capital, which is effectively a 10 percent reduction in -- that's the tax impact, is the 10 percent of reduction in user cost of capital -- produces a 3.1 percent increase in the real capital stock.  Do you see that?

DR. MINTZ:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I am going to talk about their second study in a second, but let's just talk about that 3.1 percent.

So they're basically saying that 31 percent of the impact flowed through to the capital stock.  Right?

DR. MINTZ:  No, not quite.  First of all, it's a 10 percent reduction in the UCC coming from the tax component.  So I am not sure -- would that be ten persons of the tax --

DR. WILSON:  Later on in the summary --

DR. MINTZ:  The wording here is a little bit unclear, actually.

DR. WILSON:  -- 10 percent reduction in the tax wedge.

DR. MINTZ:  Right.  So I interpreted that as the reduction in the effective tax rate itself by 10 percent.

So just to give you ballpark numbers, but you know like, in terms of the numbers that, you know, I have done in the past, you would get a, let's say, about a net of risk, about a 6 percent pre-tax cost of capital, 4 percent net of tax; maybe three and a half, but let's say four.  So two percentage points would be the tax component of the user cost of capital.

So if you get a 10 percent reduction in that, that would be a 0.2 percentage point reduction in the user cost of capital.

The user cost of capital would likely be in the area of 13 percent, once you take into account both depreciation and tax costs and the net of, actually 14 percent.

So it would be relative to all of that.  So what this is suggesting, in my mind, is a relatively large shock to the capital stock as a result of this reduction in the effective tax rate on capital by 10 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just understand whether I am clear on this.

You're saying that on this first part of their study, which is the part that they say is too low, they're saying that if you reduce the user cost of capital through tax savings by 0.2 percent, you will increase capital investment by 3 percent.  In the capital stock in the economy --

DR. MINTZ:  Capital stock, which is large.  Like Ontario's capital stock, I don't have the latest number here, but, say, roughly $500 billion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's a 15 times impact?

DR. MINTZ:  I am not sure if it is 15.  I would have to sit down and work through the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  3 percent.  Fifteen times?

DR. MINTZ:  3 percent on 500 billion would be, you know, would be about $15 billion in capital.  So that's a large increase in investment.  Of course, these are long-run calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I didn't read it that way, but you are the economist, I'm not.

DR. WILSON:  I have the appendix here.  The tax component of cost of capital has a coefficient of minus 3.13.  The non-tax component is almost the same, minus 3.27.

DR. MINTZ:  They didn't add them.  That's interesting.

DR. WILSON:  No, and that's in the version with industry and time dummies.

Just your original question about why I only go back to '98.  This is actually a panel, there are 43 industries, times seven years, so you are looking at about 300 observations.

In the appendix, where these numbers come from, it is from an equation where they have put in variables that capture what we call fixed effects for each time period and for each industry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have the appendices there?

DR. WILSON:  I happen to have printed this off another time.  I found it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is that right, what Dr. Mintz said, that the impact is not 10 percent conversed to 3 percent, but rather 0.2 percent conversed to 3 percent?

DR. WILSON:  No.

DR. MINTZ:  I was just giving some numbers based on the way that we have modelled the effective tax rate on capital and the numbers we had, and taking out depreciation.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  And I know that given that Finance uses exactly the same model and we use the same data, almost, and have similar assumptions, that those numbers wouldn't be too far off the mark.  So that's why I gave the numbers that I did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That suggests that you don't need to do much with taxes to have a big impact on capital investment.

DR. MINTZ:  Now you know why I have argued for reductions in business taxes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now the second thing they've done -- I'm in shock of course -- the second thing they've done is they said:  Well that study, that part of the study is too limited, because it doesn't take into account the fact that these impacts spill over year to year.

And so they used another technique called the difference in differences approach, which basically says, Take your control group, take your study group and compare how the two groups reacted in their capital investment over the study period; right?

Then they came up with a 7 percent increase in the capital stock; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Hmm-hmm. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  A 7 percent increase in the capital stock over a period of time like that is a huge difference in the economy, isn't it?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  It is even bigger than the 3 percent that we talked about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. WILSON:  I am just wondering, because some of the text refers to impact on investment and some refers to impacts on the capital stock, so whether...

DR. MINTZ:  Hmm-hmm.

DR. WILSON:  In any case, they're getting strong and statistically significant results from both approaches, and the results lie within the range they cite from other estimates in the literature.

DR. MINTZ:  They do -- in the conclusion, they make it very clear it is an increase in capital stock.

DR. WILSON:  Yes, yes.

DR. MINTZ:  So that's why -- those numbers are pretty big when you talk about capital stock.

DR. WILSON:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your conclusion in your paper, as I --

MR. PENNY:  Could I ask you to speak up?  I'm having difficulty hearing you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I was cogitating and...

Your conclusion in your paper is that the GDP impact of a tax change is 70 percent.  So when you were saying earlier this is just accidental --

DR. WILSON:  No.  No.  That strictly had to do with the results when we look at the Mintz-Chen model results for the corporate sector.  We're making allowance for the fact that the corporate sector isn't all the economy, that some of the GDP is from government output and unincorporated enterprise output and owner-occupied housing.  So that's what that 70 percent scaling has to do.  It has nothing to do with this sort of stuff, these --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's turn to another -- an example that you gave, and that is you gave an example of a 1 percent reduction in GST reducing the GDP deflator by 0.4 percent; do you recall that?  That's in your reply evidence, I think.

You say -- I will just find the reference for this.  This is on page 7 of your reply evidence.  You say 
that --

DR. MINTZ:  Is this the reply to your -- maybe what section? 


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is Exhibit E1, tab --

DR. MINTZ:  That's fine, sorry.  I thought you meant interrogatories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At page 7, you say that the calculation of the GST impact on GDP is really simple:  $6 billion in GST savings, $1.6 billion in GDP, divide one by the other, 0.4 percent; right?

DR. WILSON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that sounds simpler than anything else we talked about.  We decided to apply the same reasoning to income tax.

So what I would like to do is I would like to start with, if I can find it, chapter 3 of the economic statement from 2007.  That's a document I think I provided copies of, and I wonder if I could get an exhibit number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  K3.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  CHAPTER 3 OF ECONOMIC STATEMENT FROM 2007, "BROAD-BASED TAX REDUCTIONS FOR CANADIANS."


MR. MILLAR:  What is that document, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It says, "Chapter 3, Broad-based Tax Reductions for Canadians."

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. PENNY:  This was a document that was sent to us for the first time at 7:00 a.m. this morning.  So I can tell you that the witnesses have not had the opportunity to review it in any detail.

DR. WILSON:  Simple GDP deflator impacts on business income tax saving?

DR. MINTZ:  No, "Broad-based tax reductions for Canadians."

MR. SHEPHERD:  Economic statement.

MR. MINTZ:  Okay, got it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know you haven't reviewed it this morning.  You have reviewed it before; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not the first time you've read this?

DR. WILSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you did a study on it; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I want to do is I want to turn to page 2 of this document, because on page 2 of this document the government actually tells us what the impact is of all the business income tax changes in the budgets of 2006, 2007 and the economic statement where more were introduced.

Do you see that in that table?

DR. MINTZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what we did is we prepared a chart, and I provided this spreadsheet, which is labelled "Simple GDP deflator impact from business income tax savings".  That is the one that you saw for the first time this morning.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K3.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.5:  SPREADSHEET LABELLED "SIMPLE GDP DEFLATOR IMPACT FROM BUSINESS INCOME TAX SAVINGS".


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have copies of that?

DR. MINTZ:  We have it.  We have it.  Don't worry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here, this document just does the same calculation as you did in your paper, except for the dollars that the government has reported are the dollars to business in the business income tax changes.

You will see that the first line is directly from the economic statement, and then the second line calculates the annual change, because, of course, it is the annual change in it that affects the GDP; right?  That's what you are doing with the GDP, right -- with the GST, the annual change; is that correct?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And calculates what would GDP be as a result of this -- or what would the percentage impact of this be as a result of the same calculation you're talking about, and we have escalated GDP by 2.04 percent.  It's the only number we know, and then adjusted it for -- to look at the impact of these dollars.  It's exactly the same calculation you did for GST.  Do you see anything wrong --

DR. WILSON:  Except this isn't the GST.  This is corporate income tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come to that in a second.  I understand there's a big difference.  I understand.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in terms of the math, the math's right, isn't it?

DR. WILSON:  The arithmetic looks --

DR. MINTZ:  -- numbers, but, you know...

DR. WILSON:  -- looks okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then we calculated, Well, what happens if you run that GST -- that GDP impact through the incentive regulation model and compare it, compare the impact on Union's revenue to the tax savings we know they're going to get.

And the math is the GDP is reduced by $16.4 million.  Their revenue is reduced by $16.4 million over the five-year period compared to the sit eight I million dollar tax savings.

I know you haven't had a chance to review these numbers to see if they're correct, and I am going to ask you to let us know if you see anything wrong with them, okay?  Sorry, you have to say something.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes, yes.

MR. PENNY:  I want to make sure what you're asking is clear.  You want to know whether the math is correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  I guess what's not clear to me, without further consultation, is whether we have the information necessary to even determine whether the math is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have any problems with it -- you have the live spreadsheets, so if you have any problems with determining whether the math is correct, we'll be happy to provide whatever information you need.

What I want to do is -- I don't want to get dogged down in the math.  I want to talk about the concept here, because, as you've said and you're absolutely right, this is not GST.  So GST, as we know, we talked about this earlier, GST as a commodity tax flows through, bam, right away, quick.  Right?  Into the deflator; is that right?  

DR. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, I am going to give an undertaking number to the one that was just given.

It will be J 3.2, and it's to confirm whether the calculations in K 3.5 are correct, the math is correct.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2: TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE MATH IN EXHIBIT K3.5 IS CORRECT


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry to interrupt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the difference is that income tax changes don't have that bam effect.  They actually take some time to work through the system, right?

DR. WILSON:  Depending on whether or not they have been anticipated, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have no reason to believe these have been anticipated, right?

MR. PENNY:  These?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, I would assume that, actually, given the announced corporate rate reductions and the fact they're in legislation, or that the business community has gotten used to the fact that you have these corporate rate reductions that are announced, that actually there's a difference between what we mean by the revenue impact of the corporate tax reductions year by year for the government, versus how people perceive this in terms of their investment decisions.  Those are two different things.

In other words, people seeing that there is a significant reduction by 2012 in the corporate rate, and knowing that for some investments it takes time to gear up, or to put them in place, that they're looking at quite large changes, actually, in the business tax reductions, as opposed to numbers that go year by year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have any empirical evidence of that.  That is just conjecture on your part.

DR. MINTZ:  No.  I think that, you know, you're saying is there any empirical evidence to suggest that people anticipate these.

There is some work that has been done in the US and in some countries.  Particularly, I'm thinking of work that Alan Auerbach has done on anticipated changes in corporate rates.  And this goes back to my comment about how you estimate the user cost of capital and the effective tax rate on capital.

But when you do have these anticipated changes in corporate rate reductions, there is some evidence to suggest that it does lead to bigger investment booms than if people did not anticipate these changes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, you could have told us the specific answer to this question by running the focus model and you would have known, right?  But you didn't?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, that would be quite a lot of work, actually.

DR. WILSON:  Well, we did do some work back through corporate changes -– and I'd have to consult my CV -- but there were some announced corporate changes in the past where we modelled the anticipatory effects, and there were stronger results than if you put it through as a Surprise, surprise, every year, I wake up and I've got another corporate tax cut.  But if I know it is coming and I believe it, then I respond more strongly in the initial year or two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you can't tell us how much those impacts are?

DR. WILSON:  I would have to check it out.  I could look at what our previous study suggested, but --

MR. SHEPHERD:  In your -- is it your reply evidence?  Yes, it is your reply evidence.  In your reply evidence, at page 6 and 7, you look at what you say the impact is, the 70 percent flow-through into GDP deflator.

And your conclusion, as I understand it, is that you have some percentages here, but what you didn't do -- and this is what I don't understand -- is you didn't tell us what the dollars are, the dollar impacts of what these calculations are.  Why is that?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

DR. WILSON:  Which table are we --

DR. MINTZ:  Page 6 and 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Looking at the conclusions at pages 6 and 7 about the impact of these tax changes on the GDP.  You didn't tell us what the dollar impacts are on Union.  You tell us all sorts of stuff about how it affects Union, but you don't tell us how many dollars are their rates are going to go down because of these changes.  Why not?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, we were looking at the case in which the -- what our focus was on was the impact of these tax changes on the GDP deflator.  The GDP IPI FDD, and there, what one's interested in is the changes to the marginal effective tax rates, which tell you how decisions are going to be affected at the margin.

And in that case, really, what we're interested in at that point is really looking at how the changes end up translating through changes in the marginal or incremental cost of production, because to the extent that the incremental cost of production declines, then that will lead to an equilibrium, to lower prices being charged.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, well --

DR. MINTZ:  So you're not interested in the averages or the total taxes that are collected.  That's not relevant to that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess, here's my problem with that.  Your chart on page 6 actually compares all large corporations to Union Gas, says:  Here is the impact on all large corporations; here is the impact on Union Gas.  Right?

DR. MINTZ:  Fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then your chart on the next page says:  Well, you know our conclusion is 2.8 percent for all corporations.  2.9 percent for Union Gas.  Therefore it's a wash.

DR. WILSON:  Excuse me.  2.8 percent is the estimated impact of the GDP.  That takes into account the 0.7.

The estimated impact on large corporations is the 3.1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

DR. WILSON:  So it works out with those assumptions Union Gas is getting one-tenth of a percent more.  If we hadn't put that 0.7 percent change in, then the impact on the deflator would be greater and Union Gas would probably have a somewhat smaller reduction, then.

So anyway, given that the sum of these numbers are rough, this is, to me, rough equivalence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so do I understand what you're saying?  We know what the tax savings are for Union in 2008.  They're $8.3 million.  We know this already, right?  It's Union's evidence.

So do I understand you to be saying:  Well, the GDP will go down by 2.8 percent and Union's tax will go down by 2.9 percent, so divide one by the other, multiply by 8.3, and that's the GDP price impact on Union.  True?  It's just simple math, right?

DR. WILSON:  I don't know whether I can agree with that.

DR. MINTZ:  No.

DR. WILSON:  Do you?

DR. MINTZ:  I'm not sure I understand it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me ask it a different way.  Because we're still talking about dollars, right?  Union's going to get $8.3 million this year --


DR. WILSON:  We don't have any dollars in here, as you point out.  It is strictly percentage impacts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm trying to pursue it.

So they're going to get $8.3 million.  You're saying:  Well, you can't take it back from them because their prices are going to go down by $8.3 million.  Isn't that right?

DR. WILSON:  I defer to the Union expert on this one.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  What we're saying, Mr. Shepherd, is exactly that, that you don't otherwise adjust for this because it will be caught in the impact in the GDP IPPI FDD.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that I am asking you, if it's all about the dollars, which it really is about the dollars here, then why do we have these 2.8 percent, 2.9 percent numbers as opposed to how many dollars are their prices going to go down because of this effect?  You said there is an effect.  What's the dollar impact?

DR. WILSON:  We can do the dollar effect on the GDP, 2.8 percent times nominal GDP.  

The only question I have on the Union Gas here is these are marginal effective tax rates, so I don't know whether you can just mechanically apply them to those numbers to get the dollar figure that you would like to get.  I assume you're looking for something equivalent to in your spreadsheet?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  I mean, to give you an example, in our model, when you undertake a capital cost allowance increase as in the case of Union Gas getting it for its gas distribution and pipelines, as an example, the -- our model was based on looking -- in terms of the marginal effective tax rate analysis, one is looking at the present value of tax savings on a new investment taking place at that point for a very long period and calculating it back to the current period.

So, first of all, you're looking at present value changes as opposed to one particular year.

The other thing is that the new capital cost allowance only applies to new investment, because all of the other capital goods that were bought in previous years have been grandfathered and stay at the old capital cost allowance rate.  So the actual tax-saving changes are going to be a lot smaller when you change a capital cost allowance rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but those have all been calculated.

DR. MINTZ:  But the main point is that there is not a big revenue impact or revenue gain to Union Gas compared to what our marginal effective tax rate analysis would show.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I would like you to do, and this is going to be a request for an undertaking.

You have in, I think it is, 3.1.1, a chart -- is it 3.3.1?  One of those two.  You have the chart that calculates the tax savings; right?

So you know the one I'm talking about, Mr. Birmingham? 

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Yes, 83.1.1  It totals up to the $80.5 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I would like Dr. Mintz and Dr. Wilson to do is tell us what they think the GDP impact is going to be of the tax savings we're talking about, tax reductions in the economy we're talking about, and what that means to Union's rates.

How much will their prices go down each year because of the GDP effects that you say are going to happen?  Give us a chart.

DR. WILSON:  We already pointed out that we have over -- after the effect -- the lag effects are worked out, the tax changes from 2006/2007, 2007/2008, cumulative effect on the deflator is 2.8 percent.

If that were spread over five years, as per the middle section of Mr. Shepherd's spreadsheet, that would work out to be, what, 0.56 percent.  That is very similar to his, what he gets.  He gets it a little over -- he gets about 0.55 percent.

If, instead, we looked at it over four years, it would be a 0.7 percent reduction.  And given that there are these anticipated effects, it is not unreasonable to think it might occur over four years.  And that's -- you know, you've got in the four years there roughly a 0.9 percent.

So we're in -- we're not quite up to what you have in that calculation, but we're certainly in the same ballpark.  So if you want...

DR. MINTZ:  That's in another table, though.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Wilson, we're mixing numbers here.  I'm not asking you about the effects of previous tax changes.

DR. WILSON:  No, we're talking about --

MR. SHEPHERD:  You may have a separate argument about previous tax changes having an impact today.

DR. MINTZ:  We weren't discussing that.

DR. WILSON:  Our table where we started here with the tax changes for 2006/2007, 2007/2008 and how they would eventually work through on to the GDP deflator.  

If you want us to start looking at the tax changes that were announced going forward, well, we'd have to look at that and look at provincial taxes and so on.  It's not something that can be done overnight.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  So I am asking for an undertaking for you to calculate, starting in 2008, the tax savings -- sorry, the price reductions under the IRM formula that Union Gas will undergo as a result of the GDP impacts that you say are going to happen because of tax changes.

DR. MINTZ:  I'm not sure we want to take that undertaking until I think through exactly how one puts these things together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps I could ask that the witnesses take it under advisement and the undertaking should be they will consider whether they can give us this information.

MR. PENNY:  I think --

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, can you come back after the break and let us know what your position is?

MR. PENNY:  We can consider that, although one thing that occurs to me has crept into Mr. Shepherd's characterization of this is that -- is price reductions that Union says will happen because of tax reductions.  We're not saying there is going to be any price reductions.

We're saying the GDP is a national inflation measure that takes into account all kinds of things.  We're not saying there is going to be any reduction.  There could be all kinds of offsetting events in the economy which are going to make -- take prices up.  We're by no means saying that there is going to be a reduction in Union's rates as a result of these tax savings.

All we're saying is that that is one of those many factors that flows into that national price index that influences where it goes.

I guess -- I suppose what we do say is that if nothing else in the world happened and the only thing that happened in the world was these corporate tax reductions, that that would have a certain effect, but that, of course, is a completely speculative and unrealistic scenario.  

So I just wanted to make it clear we are by no means saying that rates are going to go down because of these tax reductions.  We're saying the GDP inflation factor that's being used in our formula will pick up those and it will be reflected in whatever that is at a given time, given all of the other things that are happening in the economy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is fair to say -- and my friend can correct me if I am wrong.  I think it is fair to say Union is saying that all other things being equal, that their rates are going to go down by $80.5 million over the next five years because of the GDP response to these tax savings.  Is that right, all other things being equal?

MR. KAISER:  If nothing else affects this price index?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

So I am saying all other things being equal, so zero out everything else, show us how you think the impact of these tax changes on the GDP will result in $80.5 million.  That's all I'm asking you to do.

MR. PENNY:  We will consider our position on that this afternoon and get back to you, if that is satisfactory.

DR. WILSON:  Sorry, can we clarify this?  Are we supposed to be looking at the tax changes we identify in our table 2, or are we supposed to be looking at these additional tax changes from the October statement and also provincial tax changes?

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's a chart with -- which Mr. Birmingham can show you, which totals $80.5 million of tax impacts over five years.

And so what I am asking you to do is take a look at those tax changes and show us how those changes work through the GDP, what the GDP result is going to be, to reduce their prices under the IRM formula by a total of $80.5 million over five years.

MR. PENNY:  As if nothing else in the economy ever happened?

MR. SHEPHERD:  As if nothing else happened.

MR. PENNY:  And I think where we have left it is that we're going to -- I think where we have left it is we're going to consider at the break whether that is something we can do, and then get back to you on that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to another area.  Mr. Chairman, you're thinking of breaking around 3 o'clock; is that right?

MR. KAISER:  That's about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Let me turn to another area.  I'm looking at your reply evidence.

On page 9 of your reply evidence, you talk about your retail sales tax versus GST study that's forthcoming and how that redesign affects prices, but then you go on to say that if you simulate the effect on capital investment, what you find is that while, for GDP as a whole, 70 percent happens within five years, for business capital investments, less than half of it happens within five years.  Is that right?

DR. WILSON:  No.

DR. MINTZ:  No.

DR. WILSON:  Machinery and equipment is part of business investment, by far the larger part, and non-residential construction is the other part.

DR. MINTZ:  Machinery investment, 70 percent of the change occurs within five years, and non-residential structures, at least according to the estimates from this other work --– well, I shouldn't be speaking for Tom's focus model -- but 50 percent is for non-residential construction.

DR. WILSON:  And this study -- and it is my colleague Peter Dungan who did the modelling work for the four authors of this paper -- this does not allow for any anticipatory effects.  This is looking at, I guess the presumption would be, if in the Ontario budget that we had a few weeks back or one week back, if they had announced: Okay, we're going in.  We're putting in a VAT right now, so there wouldn't be any anticipation that this would be coming, then that's what it is.

So you'll notice in the next paragraph we say the lags will be shorter where you have the anticipatory effects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For which you don't have any empirical evidence in this particular study?

DR. WILSON:  Not from this study, no.  We didn't do it.  It wasn't relevant for that study.

As I say, there were studies in the past where we looked at anticipatory effect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your conclusion that capital stock clicks in -- sorry, machinery and equipment kicks in faster than building, structures, right, is consistent with what Bernanke and Gertler saw in their study.  And I am just looking at page 33 of their study.  You don't need to turn it up, I will read it to you:
"An interesting result is that equipment investment accounts for nearly all of the decline in fixed investment."
This is the opposing result, right?
"Structures investment by businesses appears to respond very little to a monetary policy shock."

Is that essentially the same effect as you saw it?  

DR. WILSON:  I don't know.  I would have to look at that.  This is a non-trivial effect on non-residential construction, but you have to look at how the taxes impact.

I think my recollection is that there was a larger tax reduction for machinery and equipment than for non-residence, from going to the value-added tax.

Also, I should just mention, machinery and equipment also includes software, which probably has a very quick -- a lot of this stuff can be just ordered off the shelf or imported.

So the 70 percent, if anything -- I think my colleague's reaction was -- seemed kind of slow.  We were thinking it might be faster than that.  But I would view it as a maximum estimate of the fraction that would occur within five years.  Probably lower than that, when we take into account anticipatory effects, but certainly non-residential construction would have longer lags than machinery and equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's just because the decision-making and implementation cycle takes longer, right?

DR. MINTZ:  That's correct.

DR. WILSON:  And building the stuff, in some cases.  You think of a utility building a new nuclear plant. There is a long period there of getting environmental assessments and approvals, regulatory approvals that cause delays.  And that could be true in the case of mines.  You may have to deal with getting the aboriginal population.  There are lots of reason why you could have lags, long lags in some of the non-res.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had one conclusion that said that 70 percent of the business tax change flows through to the deflator --  Sorry, to capital investment.

And the reason why it is only 70 percent is because that's how much of GDP is corporate, right?

DR. WILSON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have another saying, and I assume that is within that 70 percent, then, you have 70 percent within five years, or 50 percent within five years.  Is that right?

DR. WILSON:  Seventy percent from machinery and equipment and 50 percent for non-residential construction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Seventy percent of 70 percent, and 50 percent of 70 percent?

DR. WILSON:  This would refer to the corporate sector's response before you scale it by the 0.7, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that then we're talking about 70 percent of 70 percent?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  I mean, if in fact it did take, you know, in that five-year period, and not allowing for any of these anticipatory effects.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So somewhere between -- if my math is right -- 35 percent and 49 percent impact in the first five years?  Is that fair?

DR. WILSON:  Well, I don't agree with that as a conclusion, but that's what the arithmetic says, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're the one who said there's a 70 percent impact on the GDP deflator from the corporate tax savings.  That's your conclusion.

You're the one who said that 70 percent of that maximum flows through in five years.

So what conclusion do you reach from that?

DR. WILSON:  It's a minimum 70 percent.  Sorry if I misspoke.

Let me read the last paragraph of our reply evidence:
"However, it's worth noting that these lags will be shortened when tax changes are legislated in advance of their implementation, as was the case with the five-year tax reduction plan implemented in 2000 and recent corporate tax changes announced in the economic statement of October 30th, 2007.  This is because businesses can plan in advance to take advantage of future tax reductions.  Moreover, future announced statutory rate reductions can stimulate investment today to take advantage of CCA deductions at higher current tax rates."

So I wouldn't take away from this page that we should use 70 percent and 50 percent of those things.  Those would be the minimum estimates of the amount that's realized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just --

DR. WILSON:  I'm not saying it would be 100 percent, but I don't think you could go through this arithmetic the way you're proposing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If we disaggregate your conclusions, you have a conclusion based on without including anticipatory effects.  Then you have a separate conclusion based on adding into that anticipatory effects; correct?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Correct?

DR. WILSON:  I'm having a lot of trouble hearing you.  Can you speak up a bit?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  I'm facing you --  

DR. WILSON:  It may be my old ears but --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or my old voice.

You have two things you're saying here.  If you ignore anticipatory effects within the economy, then within five years, the amount of a change that flows through is somewhere between 35 percent and 50 percent.  Right?

So it's somewhere between 50 percent of 70 percent, and 70 percent of 70 percent.

DR. WILSON:  Well, yes, if you're doing that mechanistic calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then --

DR. WILSON:  It would be closer to the 70 percent of 70 percent, because machinery and equipment is more important.

The other thing that we didn't look at in this, which we would have to do, would be to look at which type of investment had a bigger impact on the price indexes, you know, as you respond to the -–  because as I mentioned earlier, in terms of this particular study, there was a larger tax reduction for machinery and equipment than there was non-res.

So based on that strict study, I think you would be much closer to the 70 percent of 70 percent, without allowing for the anticipatory affects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I understand.

Can you tell us why major economic impacts like fiscal policy changes -- what's the mechanism that causes that to produce capital investment on a lagged basis?  Just a brief description.

DR. WILSON:  What is the mechanism by which a -- are we talking again about corporate tax changes here?  You said fiscal policies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean corporate tax changes.

DR. WILSON:  Corporate tax change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the mechanism by which there is a lag?

DR. WILSON:  Where there's a lag?  Well, if you look at investment decisions, I mean the firms learn -- you can imagine a firm learning the day after the budget there's been a significant change in corporate taxes, whether it is a CCA reduction or rate reduction or whatever.

They, then, have to determine how they should respond to that.  To what extent does it make sense for them to step up investment?  When should they do it?  They're going to be looking at some other factors like whether sales are growing or stable or declining they will have maybe some meetings on that and make some decisions on what they're going to do for capital investment.

 In some cases, like if they're going to order new computer software that they were thinking about ordering, let's accelerate that.  It can be done very quickly.


In other cases, if they decide it's now time to open that new plant in western Canada, it's going to be a longer process.  They're going to have to start by perhaps looking for a site.  They may have to go through some regulatory approvals to get clearances, rezoning, et cetera.  That could take -- I'm thinking the two extremes here.  

In some cases, you can get a long lag.  In other cases, once you have made the decision, the implementation is very rapid.


You decide you need a new pick-up truck if you're a farmer.  You go down the next day and dicker with the car dealer, and you can have the truck delivered in a short time period.  So in that case, you have a very quick response on the machine and equipment side; whereas that same farmer decides that he or she wants to put an addition on a barn.  That's going to take a longer -- there will be a construction lag while this occurs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  I want to turn to a paper that I don't actually think I have -- I don't think I have introduced this yet.  It's a paper by Ben Bernanke and Mark Gertler called "Inside The Black Box: The Credit Channel of Monetary Policy Transmission."  Do you have that?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K3.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.6:  BEN BERNANKE AND MARK GERTLER, "INSIDE THE BLACK BOX, THE CREDIT CHANNEL OF MONETARY POLICY TRANSMISSION."


MR. PENNY:  This, Mr. Chairman, is another document we received this morning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Mintz and Dr. Wilson, this is not the first time you have seen this document; right?  You have read this paper before?

DR. WILSON:  I can't remember whether I looked at it before or not.  It was published back in '95.

DR. MINTZ:  I don't remember reading it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't?

DR. MINTZ:  I don't know if I read it.

DR. WILSON:  I don't know whether...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You know who Ben Bernanke is?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  I have heard about him.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell us for the record who he is?

DR. MINTZ:  He's the head of the Federal Reserve in the United States.

DR. WILSON:  But he wasn't at the time he wrote this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, actually he was -- at the time he wrote this, he was one of the foremost monetary policy specialists in the country.

DR. MINTZ:  No question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what he is trying to deal with this in paper -- of course, you will have the chance to read it at your leisure.  I'm sorry you only got it this morning, but I only got it last night so -- but what he's trying to figure out is:  How does the economy respond to monetary policy changes? 

And I'm just going to take you to -- maybe start with page 29.  He sets out four basic facts that he says are true, the first one being that if there's a tightening of monetary policy -- and, of course, this is all the opposite to what we're seeing now, but let's say there is a tightening of monetary policy.  Interest rates moved up.  That only has transitory effect on interest rates.  That's the first thing.

There's a sustained decline in real GDP and price levels.  And this is an accepted fact; right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  I'm prepared to accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that an accepted fact?

DR. WILSON:  Sorry, I said, yes, we're prepared to accept that fact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't hear you.

The second one I don't think matters that much, but the third and fourth one talk about - oops, lost my spot, sorry - about the fact that GDP is impacted first in non-business investment, and then eventually, with a substantial lag, GDP is impacted in business capital investment.  And that's also consistent with your knowledge of what happens to GDP with a monetary policy --

DR. WILSON:  No, this study is of the United States.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  And in Canada, there's another channel that's important for the way monetary policy works, and that's through the exchange rate.

So a tightening of monetary policy would trigger an appreciation of the Canadian dollar.  So you would get -- these time patterns could well be quite different for Canada than what we show here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't there --

DR. WILSON:  You could get a much quicker price response because of that.  The appreciation of the dollar, feed it through the lower input prices, which get into some of the components of demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't there just as much of an exchange rate effect in the United States?

DR. MINTZ:  We have a much more open economy than the United States.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because --

DR. MINTZ:  US capital flows as a share of -- GDP in the United States, last time I looked at it, was less than 5 percent, while in Canada, you know, they're much bigger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's just a factor of the quantity of foreign investment in Canada versus the United States?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.  That's part of it, yes.  But it is also -- you know, if you look at our exports, it's a share of Canadian GDP.  We were talking about 35, 40 percent.  In the United States it is less than ten.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. MINTZ:  So it's a more closed economy than the United States.  It influences the results you get in these kinds of models.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We will talk about that, then, in a second.

So on page 31 of this paper, Bernanke and Gertler say -- they have this nice chart here that shows the response of real GDP, the funds rate, and the GDP deflator responding over time and, in fact, shows that it takes, like, four years before it responds fully.

So you see that.  What you're saying is that because our economy is somewhat different than the United States, while this pattern might be similar, the timing won't be necessarily?

DR. WILSON:  The timing particularly on the deflator response could be quite different.

I mean, the pattern he's showing there, I mean, I don't know whether this is empirically estimated in here.  Oh, he has a VAR system, which is not a structural model like we used.

But this pattern doesn't surprise me.  If you're teaching macro, you teach that the initial impacts of monetary policy is first found in financial markets, and then it spills over into real demand, so there's a real effect on the economy, and then it starts to get into wages, because with the output going down, unemployment is up, money, wage inflation drops and that feeds into prices.  There may be some direct effects on prices, as well as market softening.

So that the wage-price response is more drawn out than the output response, and the output response is typically more sluggish than the financial market response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, of course, as you correctly point out, the price impacts in the United States will be slower to rise because it is a more closed economy.  If you take a look at page 33 of their paper, they talk about the spending responses, and, of course, this is key to your own theory of how this works, how the tax changes work, is the spending response.  

They disaggregate the various types of spending.  The interesting thing here is that the conclusion is that some types of spending respond quickly to a change in -- this is in effect a change in user cost of capital; right?

So some of them respond quickly and heavily, and others, like business fixed investment, have a much shallower response and takes a lot longer.  Is that consistent with your experience?

DR. WILSON:  Again, it doesn't surprise me.  We're looking here at -- I mean, just as the lag -- some of the lags in investment mean there's stuff in the pipeline.  If you're halfway through building your plant, you're not going to just stop that construction because -- you may have already financed that.  So the fact that interest rates go up isn't going to matter.  

You may have already -- you've got your machinery on order and you've already paid for it.  Again, you have made the financial arrangements.

So if you look at the response on business fixed investment, which is including non-residential construction, as well as machine and equipment, you notice the maximum response occurring 20 months after the monetary restraint, you know, a significant lag, but it is not a huge lag.  

All of these are pretty well converging back to normal about the same time as the effects of the shock wear off.  It doesn't surprise me that they show faster responses to residential investment and to consumer durables.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This would happen the other way, as well; that is, if we saw a situation where the user costs of capital declined as opposed -- in this example user cost of capital goes up, right?  True?

DR. WILSON:  What's the question?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, the user cost of capital goes up because the interest rates goes up.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If on the other side, we had the user cost of capital going down, we would see this same sort of result in reverse?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  You get a mirror image on that one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have two more areas to explore.

The first is the impact of monetary policy.  We used monetary policy as an example here, but we're really just talking about capital investment responses in this discussion.

Now I want to talk about monetary policy as a separate impact here.  As I understand it, and I think you've said this earlier, the Bank of Canada has a 1 percent target within a 1 percent to 3 percent safety band, if you like.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the Bank of Canada isn't responding to the inflation that it sees has already happened.  It is actually trying to manage expected inflation, right?

DR. WILSON:  Yes, that's true.  But let's remember that the current, most recent data on inflation is an important component of that analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  Because it has an influence on investors' expectations, right?

And what the Bank of Canada is trying to manage is those expectations.  It wants people making investment decisions to have confidence in a stable inflation rate over the future, right?

DR. WILSON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the whole goal of the managed economy or the managed inflation level, right?

DR. WILSON:  What?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the whole goal of the managed inflation level, to get certainty in investors.

DR. WILSON:  Long-term.  The important thing is that long-term expectations of inflation are stable and not going to -– that we don't get into one of these scenarios of rising inflation expectations feeding back on to the economy.  But in terms of their view -- if you look -- they tend to be focussed on current and near-term inflation rates, trends in the core rate; and they also look at the utilization rate, the ratio of actual GDP to potential GDP, which is roughly a kind of aggregate demand, aggregate supply, partly because that's an indication of pressures from demand against supply that might generate inflation in the future.

So those are the kinds of things they're looking at as they manage the economy, as they manage monetary policy, and of course, have an impact on the economy and on inflation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Bank of Canada saw a series of impacts over the next few years that they thought were going to push inflation up, then they would want to find some way to dampen inflation, to keep it to their 2 percent level.  Right?

DR. WILSON:  Correct, unless they saw other factors on the horizon that might be dampening it, as well.  So they take into account these other things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And conversely, if they saw factors that would reduce inflation over a longer period of time, they would also have a problem with that, because they don't want investors' expectations to get down to, let's say, one and a half, because then they have to stay there.  Right?

DR. WILSON:  Well, two things on this, and I think we made it in our evidence.

One is that if we're in the upper half of the Bank of Canada's range, if we're between two and three, and there's some tax changes, which they would anticipate would lower inflation within the horizon of where they're operating monetary policy, they would not tend off.  They would think that's good.  That's moving us back towards target.  Maybe we don't have to work quite as hard.

If we're in bottom half of the range -- by the way, we're talking about the core rate -- if there's a tax event that moves you down in the core range, particularly if you're getting down well below 2 percent -- because there's some evidence the bank might be happy keeping inflation rate not at two but a little bit below two, in the one-and-a-half to 2 percent ballpark.

So if it's significantly lower than that, and the core rate is going down, yes, unless they see something else happening, they would take steps to offset that.

Now, the one exception here is that in some cases they may view the tax factor as a one-off event.  That's obviously what they do with these indirect tax changes.  But with some other type of tax change, for example, a sudden change in a payroll tax that's -- and it's only going to be, you know, something on the CPP.  Maybe it turns out we have to raise the CPP or lower the CPP. contribution rate, and they know it is just going to be a one-off event because there's not going to be change any the future again, they may say:  Well, even though that is not treated as outside the core, we won't react.  But it is clearly just a one-off event.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think they called it in one of their papers a no-regrets policy that says:  If you have a blip one year, you just leave that alone, and next year you still want to be at 2 percent.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  Or bygones be bygones.  There is a debate that's underway.  Do you want to stabilize around a rate of inflation, even if we lowered it to zero to two, for example, or do you want to aim at a price level target?  Because if we had a price level target, then bygones aren't bygones.

If you moved above the target, you have to try to bring it back down.  If you moved below the target you bring it back up.  Certainly that is not the regime we're working with today.  It is an inflation control regime.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So just before I get to that other part, although the Bank of Canada manages core CPI, my understanding of your descriptions of the various factors, the various inflation measures including the FDD measure, is that core CPI, in the relatively medium- to long-term, is going to move roughly with the FDD figure.  Right?  They're both the less volatile numbers?

DR. WILSON:  The trends in the different price indices are close.  The year-to-year variation is not that close.  Like the correlation between, there's annual percent changes in the core CPI, and the GDP IPPI FDD, I think, is 0.46.  About a quarter of the explanation of one's price series would be explained by the other.

So there is a lot of bouncing around there, and that's partly because the FDD, the implicit deflator as I mentioned earlier, includes the volatile food and energy -- like there's a stronger correlation between the unadjusted CPI and the final demand deflator --  I think it is about 0.7, I'd have to look it up -- than there is between either of the measures and the core CPI.

So there's certainly wiggle room there.  And it could be that the timing of the price effects on the FDD could be different than on the core.  For example, if the price effects may come in quicker on things like machinery and equipment, then you would have an effect on the FDD that wouldn't appear in the core until later on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the example we have in front of us, we have a series of tax changes over a period of years, that are predictable, and will, as you say, will tend to push inflation down over that period of time.

So unless the Bank of Canada sees some other offsetting effect that will dampen that impact, I take it your conclusion is that they would probably exercise some sort of monetary policy measure to try to bring it to --

DR. WILSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that sounds like, then, just in a very simplistic way, it sounds like, then, in fact the tax changes will not reduce GDP, because the Bank of Canada will fix it.

So you have an explanation for that.  Can you sort of summarize what that explanation is?

DR. WILSON:  Well, the explanation is that there are many things that can affect the GDP deflator:  tax changes, monetary policy, exchange rate changes, which can be driven by monetary policy but can be driven by other factors, like changes in resource prices, given that we tend to export resources.  So if there's a collapse in resource prices, the Canadian dollar would depreciate and that would tend to push the core inflation rate up.

All of these, at the end of the day, the GDP reflects all the effects of all of those factors.

Now the bank, because of the inflation control regime, kind of has the task of making sure it keeps within those bounds.

What we did, in our final table of our paper, is just say:  Okay, well let's suppose there is an exact offset.  Let's suppose the only two things affecting the GDP deflator over, say, a five-year period were the corporate tax reductions, if they weren't offset by monetary policy, would flow through to a lower GDP deflator and Union -- Union benefitting from some of these changes, as well, would be -- have an offset in that the deflator would permit it -- it would in some cases would have to reduce its prices.  

But if the Bank of Canada now provides the offset, then there is an inflationary effect and that tends to raise all wages and prices, and Union then sees its costs coming up, as well, with everybody else.

So that table, table 3 on page -- in our Exhibit E1, tab 2, page 12, we show the impact -- this is taken out of the previous table, table 2, first the impact of the tax changes on core inflation, and we're assuming here that the percentage impact on core is the same as on the FDD.  It may differ, the effects of the GST reduction for that period, then the overall impact on the final demand deflator.

Then we look at, well, if the bank is going to neutralize the core, what does it do?  It brings in enough demand pressure through monetary policy to raise inflation the 2.2 percent.  Again, this is spread over a five-year period.  That has the same effect on the GDP deflator and the -- and it has the same impact on Union's costs.


We're assuming here Union, like other businesses, would face higher wage pressures, higher prices of inputs, higher prices of capital goods, all of which come about from the monetary stimulus, and then we look at the net effects of the two and we see the deflator is down to 0.6.  It is simply the GST reduction.

That should be -- yes, 0.6, and the impact -- because that's a two-year GST.  That's the -- we had a half-year effect.  There was a 0.2 percent for 2007 over 2006, and then a 0.4 for the rest.  So it is 0.6.  Union's costs, average costs, are now negative 0.7.

But the important thing is the difference between the deflator, the effect -- impact of the GDP deflator on Union's costs is the same, whether or not the monetary policy offsets it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to have some more questions on this chart, but perhaps this is a good time to take a breather.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Take 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:02 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 3:25 p.m. 

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, over the break, we did have a brief consultation on that outstanding matter, whether we thought we could respond to a question that Mr. Shepherd posed.

So Mr. Birmingham can outline our position.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Thanks, Mr. Penny.

Mr. Shepherd, I think the answer to your question is actually quite simple, so I just want to make sure that I address it completely.

The calculation at Exhibit E3.1.1 includes a number of assumptions.  So you will see that, with respect to the CCA changes, it assumes that the capital spending in each year of the incentive regulation period for Union Gas is the same as the 2007 Board-approved additions.

You will see that the taxable income in each year is the same as the Board-approved taxable income for 2007.  And you will see that the taxable capital for the company is the same as the Board-approved level for 2007.

But with those caveats, what Dr. Mintz and Dr. Wilson have done is calculated the impact on GDP, and therefore on Union Gas's prices, ultimately, as if all of the tax impacts would occur in a five-year period.  It doesn't address any of the lags from past periods.

It has the assumptions that I just outlined with respect to the use of 2007 Board-approved numbers, and it assumes that there are no other changes that will impact the GDP IPPI FDD.

But with all of those caveats, what their conclusion is, is that GDP will otherwise go down by 2.8 percent.  That will impact Union's prices, and, again, with all of those assumptions and caveats, the impact would be $80.5 million.

Then, their subsequent calculation was to determine whether there is anything about the announced income tax changes that would be unique to Union, and that's when they found that, in fact, the price would decline by roughly 2.9 percent based on Union's capital intensity.  So the difference between the change in the GDP expected and the impact on Union is roughly the same.

So to answer your question, which I think was, does this mean, with all of these assumptions and all other things being equal, would Union's prices otherwise reduce by 80.5 million, the answer is yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't actually the question.  You're close.

What I want to see is your calculations that show that the impacts you have, that you expect on GDP, will result in Union's rates going down each year of the five years, by the amounts in the taxes.

So I would like you to show us those calculations.

You told us one overall calculation.  You said 2.9 percent and therefore that's about $80.5 million over five years.

We did a chart, which we have shown you, to show what is the impact on their revenue requirement each year, and what the implied GDP is.

We would like you to show us year by year what you think the impact on GDP will be, and what you think the dollar figure is for those five years.

[Witness panel confers]

DR. WILSON:  Well, we would have to look into that.  The obvious thing would be to spread that 2.8 percent out over the five-year period, and say it has this amount of impact, or spread it out over the four years.  We're a little nervous about that because of this issue of the lags and the missing year, but that could be done.

Again, it is rough because we could well have a stronger effect initially, like the Finance study got, but, yes, that could be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. WILSON:  This was a quick calculation and it looked like, for the total, it's approximately correct.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  So why don't we leave it at this, Mr. Shepherd?  We will prepare a chart and we'll lay out the assumptions we made with respect to the timing, and we will file that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, just so I understand it, are you asking them to do the equivalent to what you have done in K3.2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Under the heading "effective tax savings"?  

MR. MILLAR:  It will be undertaking J3.3, and just to ensure there is no confusion, Mr. Shepherd, can you describe what it is that they will be doing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I hate it when you do that.

What you are going to do is a chart that shows what you think the effect on GDP is of the tax changes and translating that, then, into reduced revenue requirement under the IRM formula for Union Gas on a year by year basis.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  UNION TO PREPARE A CHARGE WITH ASSUMED EFFECT OF TAX CHANGE ON GDP AND TRANSLATE THAT INTO THE REDUCED REVENUE REQUIREMENT UNDER THE IRM FORMULA FOR UNION GAS ON A YEAR-BY-YEAR BASIS

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHEPHERD:  We were talking about -- and we're close to the end here -- we were talking about the layering on of monetary policy responses, Bank of Canada responses to the impact you're talking about.  And you did a chart at page 12 of your materials that says what you think happens.  I am going to talk about your numbers in a second, but as I understand what you're talking about, you say the tax change produces capital investment, which produces price reductions.  Right?

The price reductions, then, may invoke -- we're not sure, but all other things being equal -- invoke a Bank of Canada response, which is to stimulate the economy to move inflation back up to the 2 percent target.  But that, in turn, increases Union's costs.  So although it has moved back up, the costs are moved back up as well.

DR. WILSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Can you give us an indication of the timing of this?  Is this a further lag?  Is this monetary response a further lag?

DR. WILSON:  I was going to say, I hope you don't want us to do this year by year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.

DR. WILSON:  The thing is, because first of all the bank is forward-looking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

DR. WILSON:  The bank is looking to what's going to happen in the next six to 18 months.  I mean they recognize their lag affects the monetary policy.

So if they know corporate tax changes are occurring or other tax changes are occurring, for that matter, that are going to tend to lower the GDP deflator, they could well take action in advance so that the effects are synchronized.

On the other hand, maybe they're going to take a wait-and-see attitude, because there are a lot of uncertainties in this process, in which case, there may be an initial response and then a subsequent bank reaction.

All I'm doing here is saying if, we have on average, if it turns out that the bank neutralizes, if on average this is what you're going to see, but it doesn't mean necessarily if this were a five year period, that the bank would be offsetting exactly 0.4 percent per year.  It might be that one year it's 0.7.  The next year it is 0.3, and so on, as the process works out.  But on average that would be the effects.

And however it works out, the GDP deflator is still picking up the impact of this policy on Union's input costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the first question I have about that is:  You said if the GDP goes back up, the - sorry.  The inflation rate.  Just call it inflation rate just now.  If the inflation rate goes back up, that is also increasing Union's costs, so it is a wash.  But then if the inflation rate goes down because of the tax cuts, then that is reducing their costs, isn't it?  Isn't that also a wash?

DR. WILSON:  That's what we've taken into account here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. WILSON:  Column one is the basic case that Union's costs are, indeed, reduced and the GDP mechanism is correctly showing a lower price cap for Union.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's --

DR. WILSON:  That's what column 1 says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not challenging what you're saying.  I am just trying to understand it.  On the way down, you're saying:  Union has tax savings.

DR. WILSON:  Union has what?  I'm sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They have tax savings, they have costs goes down, tax savings.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They have a GDP that is also going down that's reflecting those, so their revenues go down the same amount.  Right?

DR. WILSON:  That's what the table shows.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But their costs are going down, too.  If inflation and the economy are going  down then there are other costs besides tax are also going down; right?

DR. WILSON:  We have taken that into account in the previous table.

We have looked at tax impacts on labour, on capital, and the indirect effects from their purchases of other companies, which feed through the GDP deflator effect.  So we are taking that into account in arriving at the 2.9 percent figure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.

DR. WILSON:  2.9 for Union, in arriving at the Union; 2.8 for the GDP deflator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that this tax reduction, which is actually only about a 1 percent reduction -- in 2008, it's only about a 1 percent reduction in their costs, is a 2.9 percent reduction in all of their costs because of the flow-through through their other costs; right?

DR. WILSON:  I'm sorry.  I have to look at both tables once, here.

We are talking about the cumulative effect for the two-year period.  They're both two sets of tax changes.

So we've got a minus for Union and you have 2 minus 2.1 percent effects on capital, and we've got a small effect on labour, and then we've got this indirect effect on purchase materials and services.  So we've got about a 1-1/2 percent, 1.4 percent increase on the overall tax on their business.  That's how we arrive at the 2.9.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why are you --

DR. WILSON:  On the economy as a whole, that 2.8 is a result of the two -- the big tax change, the big tax reduction in 2006/2007 on capital, a more modest effect on labour, and then following up with a smaller tax reduction on capital in 2007/2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why are you including the tax reduction in 2006/7?

DR. WILSON:  Because --

MR. SHEPHERD:  They already had a cost of service hearing, right, so isn't that already trued up?

DR. WILSON:  We're thinking that will be having an impact going forward.  This was an illustrative calculation.  It will have an impact going forward beyond just -- not all over and done with at the end of 2007, by any means.  So this was a -- you know, a representative calculation of what the impact of these two years of tax reductions would do, how they would be reflected in the deflators.

I guess it's the kind of thing that had this mechanism been put in place a year earlier, then this would be how it would be working.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  It sounds like -- and I know this isn't correct, but bear with me for a second, because I'm trying to understand it.

It sounds like what you're saying is the federal government gives all of this money to companies, and the Bank of Canada effectively takes it back by letting inflation go up.  Am I overstating that?

DR. WILSON:  It isn't that it is taking it back.  It is offsetting the impact on inflation.

There's still the stimulus to investment from the tax cuts, though that's still on -- you know, the investment process goes on.  I think inflation -- I think in the text, it will point out the real effects on the economy, like on labour productivity, for example, on real capital formation, would be the same under these two scenarios.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

DR. MINTZ:  But there is an important point in terms of all of this, too, and that is, number one, there are some circumstances where the Bank of Canada will not offset these changes, and that could be if the inflation rate is above 2 percent, for example.  They're not going to do an offset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that is neutral.  It doesn't matter whether they offset them or not.  The results are the same.

DR. MINTZ:  The results are the same in terms of the impact of the tax changes on Union Gas versus the whole economy.  I think the main point of all of our analysis is that you simply cannot segregate the tax changes on Union and, say, you know, they're not going to be affected, if one takes the view that economy-wide tax changes are going to have an impact on the GDP deflator.

So just to go back -- just to make two points on the Bank of Canada response.  The bank won't respond in certain conditions, and that is important to keep -- that's kind of the relevance of the first column.  

The second point is that you have to remember, based on the relatively low correlation of GDP deflator with the core inflation rate, is that the bank is going to respond to the core inflation rate, but not to movements in the GDP deflator and which one is looking at in terms of how you determine the revenue requirement of Union Gas.

So given this relatively not very large correlation, you cannot assume that every time, if there is a tax reduction that's going to go on, that it's going to automatically be offset by the Bank of Canada, because there are certain circumstances where the GDP deflator will be affected, but not the core inflation, at least immediately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't provided us with any evidence to help us to understand when that happens and when it doesn't happen, or whether it is going to happen in this case?

DR. MINTZ:  Well, it's hard to say that, because it's -- you know, you have so many things that affect the GDP deflator at one time in terms of what's happening in the economy.  There is all sorts of other things that could affect the GDP deflator.

So the question is:  Should you then calculate Z-factors for factor after factor that might impact on the GDP deflator because the bank might respond?

DR. WILSON:  Yes, or let me give you another example.

If the downward pressure from the corporate tax cuts could be offset by a depreciation of the Canadian dollar, if the commodity price boom, indeed, ends with the -- if the US economy goes into a severe recession, which some observers fear, then commodity prices may go down.  The Canadian dollar could drop.  We could be having an inflationary effect just out of that.  And that would, then, provide the offset, or at least part of the offset, to these things.

Again, if we worked it out and said, What would happen with the dollar?  Well, it's going to have an impact on Union just like inflationary effect more generally.

It's true individual companies are going to be affected somewhat differently depending on, you know, how much they buy of this, that, and the other and how important their capital is.  But, on average, it's a rough offset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the things I couldn't come to grips with, and you can help me with this, is there's hundreds of respected people within the Canadian economy making -- 

DR. WILSON:  I missed that.  Hundreds of what? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  There's hundreds of respected people within the Canadian economy making forecasts of inflation of various types, CPI, core CPI, GDP deflator, all sort of things.  Those forecasts are all over the place.

I looked for somewhere where somebody says, Oh, by the way, I changed my forecast because there are some announced tax cuts, and, you know, I couldn't find it.

Can you explain why that is?  They talk about all sorts of other things.  The GST cut, oh, yes, absolutely, they talk about that; about changes in energy prices; about change in food prices, sometimes with only a 0.1 impact.  

But this impact which you say is going to be half of 1 percent, for a sustained period of time, nobody talks about.

Tell me why that is.

MR. PENNY:  Well, with respect, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Shepherd is not sworn, is not here to give evidence, and what Mr. Shepherd has just said is perhaps a hypothesis, but is not an appropriate question to put to these witnesses as a matter of fact, because that fact isn't before you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will put it as a hypothesis.  My hypothesis is:  No forecaster has talked about this as a significant impact in their inflation forecasts.  Is that correct or incorrect?

DR. WILSON:  I just don't know whether that's true, whether they've taken it into account.  I think we did have an answer to an interrogatory regarding that.

Basically, the forecasts you read about in the newspapers are very short-run-oriented.  They're typically talking about what is going to happen within the next year.  And if we're dealing here with things like these changes, which are quite complex and may have some other impact down the road, may be delayed, it isn't surprising that it isn't kind of focussed on when they're looking at a year ahead; whereas these changes, commodity price changes, can be big.  

Certainly energy prices feeding into the headline, rate of inflation, the GST up, that's a clear thing you can look at and they put it in.

So it wouldn't surprise me -- again, I'm not sure your premise that nobody who does forecasting has looked at that.  A lot of the forecasters do update their forecasts after there has been a major event like a federal budget, and some of them do a lot of work on the budget.  Some of them rely on others, but they bring out new forecasts, which probably include all of the estimated effects of that budget, and that would probably incorporate the corporate effects, but not being fiscal policy - fiscal policy isn't their main interest - they don't spend a lot of time on separating out the various effects. 

But I think the main reason would be this focus on the short-term.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Department of Finance actually does twice-yearly surveys of private sector forecasters, don't they?

DR. WILSON:  Yes.  My colleague's forecasts are included in that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So if the Department of Finance surveys don't show any change, I would assume that that means that nobody -- except you -- thinks this is going to be a half-percent increase.  Isn't that right?

DR. WILSON:  The Department of Finance survey simply is a tabulation of private sector forecasts.  You shouldn't read any view of the Department of Finance as to what's going to happen out of that.  They use this private sector forecast to determine what they're going to assume about real growth for budgetary planning purposes.

A lot of times they're conservative on that.  They will assume a little lower growth, little higher interest rates, and so on.  That's the main use they put.  They're typically looking at the broad macro indicators, real growth, inflation rate and nominal GDP growth, because nominal GDP growth is the main driver of their tax revenues.

DR. MINTZ:  Behind every forecast is somebody putting some numbers together and having their own assumptions and hypotheses in terms of how they do that forecast.

All that Finance Canada is just doing is aggregating up what people are writing down as a forecast, but who knows what factors are going into that?  There are all sorts of things happening to the economy at one time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I would assume that if what you're saying is right, these other forecasters aren't complete idiots.  They would generally tend to trend towards the sorts of numbers you're talking about: 1.5 percent.

DR. MINTZ:  They might indirectly.  I mean, people will put in their forecasts about what they think is going to happen to non-residential structures, or investments and some other things.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

DR. MINTZ:  But these things themselves are being determined by something out there, but they're not necessarily -- they're looking at the variables in terms of how they're growing, but they're not necessarily running, you know, huge amounts of factors to sort of explain it.  They're just looking at the actual numbers.

So of course, if there's a shock that the corporate tax reductions, let's say, the ones in the past like from 2000 to 2006, have an impact on these variables as they're looking at them in terms of their macro models, then they're not identifying specifically the corporate tax reductions, but they're looking at the actual variables themselves, in terms of what they're doing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask you to give an undertaking to provide some examples of private sector forecasters that have forecast that GDP inflation will go down in the longer term because of these tax breaks.

DR. WILSON:  I couldn't hear you again, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I am going to ask you to undertake to provide us with examples of any private sector forecasters that have forecast the GDP inflator will go down by any substantial amount, because of these tax changes.

Because I am putting to you that you can't, and you know that already, because you have never seen one.

DR. WILSON:  Well, let's be clear on this.

We know the Bank of Canada has an inflation targeting regime.  And almost every forecaster, as they look out beyond the immediate short-term, where things like energy prices and exchange rates and so on dominate, they will presume the bank is going to be moving -- if the inflation rate is below or above that in any significant way, that inflation tends to go back to this 2 percent, towards the 2 percent target.

So that means they would be, if someone asked them: What do you think?  Would corporate tax changes have a negative effect?  They might say:  Well, yes they would, but we're going to assume whatever the negative effect of that is going to be offset by the Bank of Canada's policy.

Just as you said:  Well, what's going to happen if commodity prices collapse?  Are we going to look at a higher inflation rate?  They might say:  Well, no, that will happen briefly, but the bank will react, so we won't see it over the medium-term.

If you want, you can conduct some sort of survey of all of these people and ask them those sorts of questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would understand what you're talking about if you were talking about CPI forecasts.  But a GDP deflator forecast, typically, shouldn't assume that the Bank of Canada is going to respond to it; shouldn't it?

DR. WILSON:  Over the medium-term, these price indices -- as I indicated earlier -- their trends are quite similar.  It's the year-by-year variations that differ.

I would like to reserve a complete answer to this after I consult with my colleague, Peter Dungan, who is the macro forecaster.  I don't think you typically find big differences in forecasts of the GDP deflator or the CPI going forward.

Now, you may find differences for the core CPI, relative to --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand what you're saying, it is that if we look at private sector forecasts, or indeed any forecasts - private sector, public sector, it doesn't matter - and after the current year, they're 2 percent, 2 percent, 2 percent -- it's like cheeseburger, cheeseburger, cheeseburger -- then that is not because anybody has made any analyses of fiscal policy impacts.  That's because people have assumed that monetary policy will always get us back to 2 percent.  Is that right?

DR. WILSON:  Monetary policy plays the dominant role relative to other factors, and the other factors would include fiscal policy.  But it would also include things like commodity price developments, exchange rate changes, and so on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have asked for an undertaking.

DR. WILSON:  I beg your pardon?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, with respect to that, we, Union and these witnesses, in particular, have not claimed that there are forecasts.  And Mr. Shepherd, if he want to make an issue out of it, he could have gone out and hired somebody to bring forward that evidence.

And I am not sure it's appropriate, since we're not relying on this, it wasn't part of our case, why we have to go off on a wild goose chase looking for something that Mr. Shepherd had the opportunity to try and prove on his own.

So in my submission it's not an appropriate undertaking.  It would be different if we were relying on something like that, but we're not.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, they have told you they don't believe they exist.  They have given you the reasons for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I think that's enough, then.

I have sort of another version of the same question to deal with, and that is:  The Bank of Canada quarterly does a detailed report on what they think is going to happen to inflation.  It's quite comprehensive, right?

They talk about their reasoning, and why they're going to do what they're going to do, and it's a quarterly -- it has a name I don't remember.

DR. WILSON:  Quarterly monetary policy review, or something.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So I looked in those, because you would figure they know that these tax reductions are coming.  So I looked in those to see if they said:  Oh, yes but we have all of these income tax reductions.  We're going to have to adjust for those.

But they don't say that either, do they?

DR. WILSON:  I don't know whether they've said it.  I haven't combed through the reports.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess asking for a similar undertaking would be out of the question?

MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I have the same issue. It's not an issue that we have put forward as part of our case.  We're not claiming that the Bank of Canada quarterly monetary reports give some kind of forecast.

If Mr. Shepherd wanted to bring this forward, he was at liberty to do so and did not do so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  I think it could be a matter for argument, Mr. Chairman.

So my last area is the question of base rate adjustments.

And let me start this by asking the sort of simpler question.  You have a model in which the timing of the GDP impact is really irrelevant, right?  You're not saying it's immediate.  You're saying it takes some time.  Things happen.  But over time, the GDP impact is equal to the tax savings, right?

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Price impact.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, okay.

Am I right in assuming that, then, generally speaking, that only applies to a regulatory structure in which rates are set based on your macroeconomic indicator, right?

DR. WILSON:  I don't think I understand what you're saying now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, as I understand what you're doing, you're connecting tax cuts to GDP deflator, to rates.

DR. WILSON:  Because of the price cap regime, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So if you don't have that GDP connector between tax cuts and rates, then that can't be your mechanism by which there's an adjustment, can it?  You need a price cap to do this.

DR. MINTZ:  Yes.

DR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in a cost-of-service hearing, that wouldn't be the case, because you don't have that same effect.  You may well have some other effects, because you are estimating what the economy is going to be in terms of your volumes and your wage and price costs, et cetera, but you don't have the GDP deflator effect, do you?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  No, Mr. Shepherd, this is the same question you asked me this morning, and that is, you are quite right, we aren't using GDP as a proxy for what can happen to our costs and therefore what should happen to our rates.

What we will do is estimate the inflationary impacts directly into the elements of our cost of service and reflect those in our rate proposal.

So it's a different mechanism, albeit, but it kind of gets you to the same place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're not suggesting, Mr. Birmingham, are you, that, for example, your wage costs move with the GDP deflator?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  No.  What I'm suggesting is we -- I am more than suggesting.  I am stating that when we do our forecast of wage increases, that's a combination of the market dynamics that are impacting the GDP, but are impacting Union directly.

So as an example, if we come in for our next cost of service hearing and the wages for engineers has gone up substantially because of the demand for those services in the economy, that will, over time, be reflected in the GDP, but we're going to reflect it directly in our costs, because we have engineers in our employee population and we would reflect the wages for those people.

So it's just -- it's a different mechanism, but it still shows the impact on Union of those inflationary pressures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're not going to go get a macroeconomic indicator to determine if wages are going to go up.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's not what I'm saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to look at your Union contracts and you're going to look at your -- at what you've already agreed with people that their wage increase is going to be for next year; isn't that right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to do a budget based on what you think is going to happen, not based on what the economy is doing?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  No.  But those two things are linked, Mr. Shepherd; that's my only point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am looking at Exhibit 3.3.1.  This is the -- we have alluded to this in its absence a number of times.  The attachment is your calculation of the tax changes, the impacts; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It is our calculation based on the assumptions that were given to us, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so one of the things you did -- I just want to clarify some stuff in here.

One of the things you did, if you take a look at line 9 and line 13, and indeed I think the same is true in lines 1 and 5, you're assuming that your carry-over balance for your undepreciated capital cost is different based on whether you're calculating the tax savings or not; right?  There's a rationale for that.  I am going to ask you for your rationale.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your rationale is?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Well, I'll go back and check, Mr. Shepherd, but I believe that all we've done is calculated the fact that there's some additional CCA that's available on the opening balance, which would be 2007.  So there's a small difference in the UCC balances, because you get some of that UCC applied to the 2007 additions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, what that does, then, is it reduces the impact of the tax savings during this period, during the five-year period, by an impact of the 2007 change; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Because you're picking up some of the 2007 change, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know what the total is when you carry that all the way through?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  No, I don't, but you can calculate it from the numbers that are here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's $2- or $3 million; right, something like that?  It is not huge.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  You are talking about just the difference in the opening balance as it moves forward?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I will take that subject to check.

MR. PENNY:  So, sorry, just for my benefit, which opening balance are we referring to now?  Because you referred to a number of different lines, which I thought included computer equipment and distribution assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They do.  

MR. PENNY:  So which --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So lines 1 and 5, which are supposed to be the same, are different.  And lines 9 and 13, which would normally be the same, are different.  They're the same class.  They started with a different opening balance.  That changes your result; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Well, it changes your result because you take some of the higher CCA on your 2007 additions.  That's why it's a different opening balance for 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second part of it is that line 32, you haven't assumed increases in rate base, even though you know there are going to be increases in rate base; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We haven't assumed any increases in the taxable capital; that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which would move at roughly the same rate as rate base; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It's a different calculation, but there would be increases to the extent that there were capital additions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you haven't assumed that -- was that one of the assumptions?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.  This is the methodology that was used in the context of the Enbridge settlement, and we were asked to reflect that same calculation in this schedule.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So if the taxable capital went up, then your impacts would go up, too; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's true of all of the changes, CCA, income tax and capital tax, that if they're higher or lower on an actual basis, the results will be different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't anticipate that your taxable capital is going to stay the same for those five years?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It would only be by pure coincidence that these numbers were the same for that five-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You, in fact, expect your taxable capital to increase over the next five years; correct?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Typically, to the extent that our capital additions are more than our depreciation in a given year, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, if you look at line 22, this is your taxable income, and I'm not going to go through all of the reasons why your taxable income changes.  I understand it's very complicated, almost as complicated as this economics stuff.  But you don't expect your taxable income to stay the same for five years, either, do you?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  No.  It could be higher or lower depending on the dynamics in our business, including weather impacts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your expectation would be that, in the normal course, your natural growth would -- and the increase in your rate base would mean that you would end up with a higher income over time; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I would hope so.  The difficulty I'm having, Mr. Shepherd, is really with respect to taxable income.  So as an example, if you invest in storage assets, that has a much higher CCA rate than some of our other ones.  So the taxable income can move around, but, generally speaking, we would expect to hopefully see an upward trend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All of these things we're talking about will have a tendency, then, to understate this $80.5 million; right?  That $80.5 million is sort of a minimal number and it could be significantly higher than that; fair? 

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Not necessarily.

I would agree generally that that is probably the direction for the income tax rate changes and for the capital tax rate changes.  With respect to the CCA, it's really going to depend on the level of capital budget expenditures relative to the 2007 Board-approved.  So that may be higher or lower.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, except your evidence in the rate case, in this particular rate case that we're still in -- still in -- is that the primary thing you want to do is build distribution equipment, because in the long term that's how you get revenue.  Isn't that your evidence?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We want to grow our asset base, that's absolutely true.  That depends on a number of things, including customer demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.

So have you done this calculation using more sort of realistic assumptions?

I don't mean that in a pejorative way.  I mean that in the sense of, you know, what you actually expect is likely to happen.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We don't have a five-year forecast, so we haven't redone this calculation.  We have done it simply on the basis that the Enbridge calculation had been done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Another thing I want to ask you about in this is you have -- the tax rate changes and the tax and the CCA changes are interactive; right?  One will affect the other; true?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you have assumed in this -- I'm not saying it is your fault.  This is the model.  You were asked to do a particular calculation using a particular model, which happens to have this built in.

But what this model does is it assumes that the -- that the rate changes are the important ones and that the CCA changes are reduced by the rate changes; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I'm not sure I understand your question, Mr. Shepherd.  

The way we have calculated this in this particular sheet is that the CCA changes aren't reflecting in our taxable income.  So that's why we've taken the CCA change at the new tax rate, and then we've kept our taxable income whole, without reducing it further for the increased CCA deductions, and taken the difference in the tax rate.

So we've calculated so that the impacts are independent, that is, they would be additive as opposed to any overlapping or double-counting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  So you tried to be neutral with respect to the rate.  I get that.  But the --

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It's not neutral.  Just trying to isolate the impacts so there isn't double-counting or anything missed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.

But it's true, isn't it, that the actual impact of the CCA differential, if you look at that in isolation, you would have to assume that the tax rate remains constant, and that the effect of a lower CCA benefit is because of the tax rate going down?  Isn't that right?  In fact, didn't you do this calculation for Mr. Aiken in one of his interrogatories?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We did respond to an interrogatory from Mr. Aiken, but that was on the basis of anticipated tax rate changes that were a little bit higher than these ones, and we had some announced tax changes between the time that we filed that response and this one.

So this is the most up-to-date information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just bear with me for one second.

Now, what I am looking at is E3.1.7, the attachment.  What Mr. Aiken asked you is -- if we just look at the CCA impact in isolation, which means we don't reduce it for the fact that there's also tax rate changes, we just look at it in isolation, we control for everything else, in effect; right?  Then you have calculated the effect as $24 million rather than the 19 that you had before; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, if you were to carry that through -- this is only part of the chart -- but if you were to carry that through, in order to be neutral, you would have to, then, reduce the tax rate impact by that amount.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  You would have to reduce your taxable income on line 22 by the amount of the CCA, so that when you calculated that difference, you weren't double-counting.  So --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  The impact would be, you would move roughly $5 million, that is the difference between the 24.07 on Exhibit E3.1.7, compared to the 19.27.  So you move $5 million up to the CCA line, but you reduce it by a corresponding amount the 34.05 million, which is the income tax rate interest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  Okay, thank you.  That clears that up very nicely.  Now, the last thing I wanted to look at in 3.1.1 is the impact you calculated for 2008, total impact is $8.3 million; right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's line 40, column A, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Subject to all of these other things we've talked about, which may make that slightly different depending on what assumptions you make, 8.3 is roughly what you think is what you're going to save in taxes this year.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  On the basis of these assumptions, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that carries through for five years, right?  You're going to save that every year, because the taxes aren't going down just for one year.  They're going down permanently, right?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Right.  This is the annual impact, but to the extent those rates continue to decline, or even just have this decline and then carry on, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if there were no further reductions, I calculate that you would actually have about a $42 million saving just from the change in 2008.  Is that right?  Am I in the right ballpark?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  If you look at 8.3 times five, you're roughly in the $41 million --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I don't understand.  I understand that you might think that along the way, over five years, there are some GDP impacts that are going to offset things, et cetera, et cetera.

But we know what your rates are going to be this year.  And we know how much tax you're going to save.  And your rates are not going to be lower by $8.3 million because of the tax saving.  So isn't that a windfall of $42 million?  Tell me why that is not true.

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I think for the same reason we have been talking about most of the day, that over time, those will get reflected in the GDP IPPI FDD, and you will see price decreases caused, in isolation, by these income tax rate changes.

MR. KAISER:  Would you agree it is not going to happen in year 1?

MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, thank you for your patience.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Who is next?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, since nobody else is speaking up, I will speak up.

Some of my friends, they didn't have the opportunity to know what areas I would cover today.  I know that their crosses are very short.  They can speak for themselves.  But I wonder if it makes sense to break today, and come back tomorrow morning when they can shorten their cross?

MR. KAISER:  That's fine with us.  Does that suit you, gentlemen?  Perhaps you want to proceed, Mr. Thompson, and get back to Ottawa?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, thanks.  I'm enjoying this so much I'm going to stay here.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much though.  Thanks for the offer.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow.  

---Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:10 p.m.
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